THEME 6 ENVIRONMENT (INCLUDING CLIMATE CHANGE)

WORK PROGRAMME 2013

MARCH 2012

FINAL DRAFT

Table of Contents

Page
Objective
I CONTEXT
II CONTENT OF CALLS
Challenge 6.1 Coping with climate change
ENV.2013.6.1-1 Climate-related ocean processes and combined impacts of multiple stressors on the
marine environment
ENV.2013.6.1-2 Atmospheric processes, eco-systems and climate change
ENV.2013.6.1-3 Impacts of higher-end scenarios (global average warming > 2 °C with respect to pre
industrial level)
ENV.2013.6.1-4 Land cover and land-use change and climate change mitigation
ENV.2013.6.1-5 Quantification of consumption-based emissions of greenhouse gases and assessment of
policy options
ENV.2013.6.1-6 Economics of adaptation to climate-change
Challence C. 2. Sectorizable and an encount of head and and
Challenge 6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas
ENV.2013.6.2-1 Water resources management under complex, multi-stressor conditions
ENV.2013.6.2-2 Toxicants, environmental pollutants and land and water resources management 1
ENV.2013.6.2-3 Transition to sustainable, low-carbon societies
ENV.2013.6.2-4 Sustainable land care in Europe
ENV.2013.6.2-5 Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure
ENV.2013.6.2-6 Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the environment using globa
earth observations
ENV.2013.6.2-7 Development of advanced technologies and tools for mapping, diagnosing, protectin
and managing cultural landscapes in rural areas
ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources
JOINT Call 'the ocean of tomorrow'
OCEAN 2013.1 – Biosensors for real time monitoring of biohazard and man made chemica
contaminants in the marine environment2
OCEAN 2013.2 - Innovative multifunctional sensors for in-situ monitoring of marine environment an
related maritime activities27
OCEAN 2013.3 Innovative antifouling materials for maritime applications28
OCEAN 2013.4 Innovative transport and deployment systems for the offshore wind energy sector30
Challenge 6.3 Improving resource efficiency
ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and service
3
ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects
ENV.2013.6.3-3 Contribution to the assessment of global water resources through the use of new Eart
Observation datasets and techniques
ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects
ENV.2013.WATER-2 Ensuring the integration of water and innovation demonstration projects an
support to trans-national networks of procurers
Public-Private Partnership 'Energy Efficient Building Initiative'
EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4 Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings for sustainable weben districts
urban districts
Challenge 6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards
ENV.2013.6.4-1 Assessing individual exposure to environmental stressors and predicting healt
outcomes: paving the way for an EU-wide assessment 4
ENV.2013.6.4-2 Closing gaps of knowledge and reducing exposure to electromagnetic fields (EMF). 4
ENV.2013.6.4-3 Coasts at threat in Europe: tsunamis and climate-related risks

Challenge 6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society
ENV.2013.6.5-1 Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy
ENV.2013.6.5-2 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society
ENV.2013.6.5-3 Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the use of environmental data
and information
ENV.2013.6.5-4 Knowledge platforms, networking and uptake of research results for more strategic international R&I cooperation
ENV.2013.6.5-5 Network for forward looking activities and assessment of research and innovation prospects
ENV.2013.6.5-6 Research and innovation for European Cultural Heritage
III IMPLEMENTATION OF CALLS
III IMPLEMENTATION OF CALLS 51 Call title: FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage 51
Call title: <i>FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage</i>
Call title: <i>FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage</i>
Call title: <i>FP7- 2013-OCEAN</i>
IV OTHER ACTIONS (not implemented through calls for proposals)
V BUDGET70
THEME ENVIRONMENT (INCLUDING CLIMATE CHANGE) — INDICATIVE BUDGET
GENERAL ACTIVITIES — INDICATIVE BUDGET

Objective

The objective of the Environment (including climate change) Theme is the sustainable management of the environment and its resources through advancing our knowledge of the interactions between the climate, biosphere, ecosystems and human activities, and developing new technologies, tools and services, in order to address in an integrated way global environmental issues. Emphasis will be put on prediction of climate, ecological, earth and ocean systems changes, on tools and on technologies for monitoring, prevention, mitigation of and adaptation to environmental pressures and risks including on health, as well as for the sustainability of the natural and man-made environment.

I Context

Political Landscape

Against the backdrop of the current economic situation and increased global competition, the Union has defined a strategy to support growth and job creation, Europe 2020^1 . The Innovation Union Flagship² initiative supports this strategy through specific commitments. Research and innovation are key drivers of competitiveness, jobs, sustainable growth and social progress.

The work programme 2013 is aligned with, and contributes towards, the objectives of Europe 2020, the Flagship Initiatives 'Innovation Union' and 'A Resource Efficient Europe^{'3}, and other EU policies. There is a determined focus on fostering new ideas, supporting world class teams tackling significant societal challenges, and on ensuring that the fruits of our investments can be properly exploited.

In this way the work programme provides for a smooth transition towards the new research and innovation programme for 2014-2020, Horizon 2020.

Approach for 2013

The orientation designed for 2013 will consolidate efforts made in the 2012 work programme to emphasise a challenge driven approach, addressing broader topic areas with EU added value and linking research and innovation.

Under the heading **'Transformative and Responsible Innovation**', the 2013 Environment (including climate change) work programme addresses three specific objectives related to:

- addressing major societal challenges;
- developing and strengthening **European leadership in environmental innovation**, pursuing a broad concept of innovation covering both technological and socio-economic innovation; and

¹ Commission Communication 'Europe 2020. A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth', COM (2010)2020 final of 3.3.2010

² Commission Communication 'Europe 2020 Flagship Initiative. Innovation Union', COM (2010)546 final of 6.10.2010

³ Commission Communication 'A resource-efficient Europe — Flagship initiative under the Europe 2020 Strategy', COM (2011) 21 final of 26.1.2011

• promoting and facilitating **knowledge transfer**, **assessment**, **uptake and exploitation** of research and innovation data and results in policy, industry and society.

These objectives will be met under the five key challenges which cut across the 11 subactivities defined in the Specific Programme: Coping with climate change; Sustainable use and management of land and seas; Improved resource efficiency; Protecting citizens from environmental hazards; and Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society. To address these objectives, broader topics going beyond the limits of individual subactivities as set out in the Specific Programme, have been defined.

Innovation Dimension of the activities and bridging towards Horizon 2020

This work programme contains innovation measures in support of activities closer to market such as:

• Support to market-uptake, notably through activities aimed at generating knowledge to deliver new and more innovative products, processes and services.

This includes activities such as prototyping, testing, demonstrating, knowledge transfer, proof of concept, as mentioned in the following topics:

- ENV.2013.6.2-4 Sustainable land care in Europe,
- ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources,
- OCEAN 2013.1 Biosensors for real-time monitoring of biohazard and man-made chemical contaminants in the marine environment,
- OCEAN 2013.2 Innovative multifunctional sensors for in situ monitoring of marine environment and related maritime activities,
- ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and services,
- o ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects, and

o ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects.

Activities addressing exploitation of existing research results include the following topics:

- o ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects,
- EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4 Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings for sustainable urban districts,
- ENV.2013.6.5-4 Knowledge platforms, networking and uptake of research results for strengthened international R&I cooperation.

Innovation is also encouraged by supporting demand-side measures such as precommercial procurement (notably via topic ENV.2013.EIP-2 'Ensuring the integration of water and innovation demonstration projects and support to trans-national networks of procurers').

Industrial participation is encouraged particularly in the following topics:

- ENV.2013.6.2-4
 ENV.2013.6.2-8
 Sustainable land care in Europe,
 Sustainable management of Europe's deep s
- ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources,
- OCEAN 2013.1 Biosensors for real-time monitoring of biohazard and manmade contaminants in the marine environment,

0	OCEAN 2013.2	Innovative multifunctional sensors for in situ monitoring of marine environment and related maritime activities,		
0	ENV.2013.6.3-1	Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies,		
		processes and services,		
0	ENV.2013.6.3-2	Eco-innovative demonstration projects, and		
0	EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4	Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings		
		for sustainable urban neighbourhoods.		
Other user engagement is encouraged particularly in topics:				
0	ENV.2013.6.2-3	Transition to sustainable, low carbon societies,		
0	ENV.2013.6.2-5	Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure,		
0	OCEAN 2013.2	Innovative multifunctional sensors for in situ monitoring of		
		marine environment and related maritime activities, and		
0	ENV.2013.WATER-	1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,		
0	ENV.2013.6.5-1	Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy,		
0	EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4	Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings		
		for sustainable urban neighbourhoods.		

The focus on innovation is reflected in the description of the objectives and scope of the specific topics, as well as in the expected impact statements. The innovation dimension of

- Support to broader aspects of innovation includes:
 - topics aimed at fostering service, process and/or organisational innovation, for example:

ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and services,

ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects,

the proposals will be evaluated under the 'Impact' evaluation criterion.

ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,

ENV.2013.6.5-2 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society, sub-topic c) Empowering international economic development through the use of environmental earth observations,

ENV.2013.6.5-3 Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the use of environmental data and information;

- topics with a component on social innovation, for example topics: ENV.2013.6.2-3 Transition to sustainable, low-carbon societies, ENV.2013.6.2-5 Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure.
- Support to new approaches stimulating innovation, notably through:
 - inducement prizes (Feasibility study to explore ways and means to introduce under Horizon 2020 an EU prize for women innovators in the field of environmental research),
 - support to European Innovation Partnerships:

topic ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,

ENV.2013.WATER-2 Ensuring the integration of water and innovation demonstration projects and support to trans-national networks of procurers, and

ENV.2013.6.5-2 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society, sub-topic d) Raising societal awareness and tackling skill shortages on raw materials.

SME relevant research

Efforts have been made to encourage SME participation notably through SME targeted topics and bottom-up approaches, together with demonstration actions, where SMEs can follow up research projects with work linked to 'demonstration' or production of prototypes before actually commercialising goods and services.

- Topics with mandatory levels of SME participation and ring-fenced SME budgets include:
 - ENV.2013.6.2-2 Toxicants, environmental pollutants and land and water resources management,
 - o ENV.2013.6.2-4 Sustainable land care in Europe,
 - o ENV.2013.6.2-5 Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure,
 - ENV.2013.6.2-6 Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the environment using global earth observations,
 - ENV.2013.6.2-7 Development of advanced technologies and tools for mapping, diagnosing, protecting and managing cultural landscapes in rural areas,
 - ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources,
 - OCEAN 2013.1 Biosensors for real-time monitoring of biohazard and manmade contaminants in the marine environment,
 - OCEAN 2013.2 Innovative multifunctional sensors for in situ monitoring of marine environment and related maritime activities,
 - ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and services,
 - o ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects,
 - ENV.2013.6.3-3 Contribution to the assessment of global water resources through the use of new Earth Observation datasets and techniques,
 - o ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,
 - EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4 Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings for sustainable urban neighbourhoods,
 - ENV.2013.6.5-3 Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the use of environmental data and information.

As an outcome of the 2013 work programme, an increase in SME participation to 15 % in 2013 is expected.

Dissemination actions

Dissemination activities are addressed throughout the work programme. Each proposal should allocate appropriate efforts and resources for dissemination to promote the use and uptake of results.

Topics with a specific focus on dissemination, knowledge transfer and public engagement include:

0	ENV.2013.6.2-5	Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure,
0	ENV.2013.6.2-6	Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the
		environment using global earth observations,

- OCEAN 2013.2 Innovative multifunctional sensors for in situ monitoring of marine environment and related maritime activities,
 - ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,
- <u>all</u> of the topics under Challenge 6.5 'Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society'.

<u>Open access in FP7</u>: Beneficiaries funded partially or entirely by the Cooperation Programme under the Environment (including climate change) Theme are required to deposit peerreviewed articles resulting from projects in an institutional or subject-based repository, and to make their best efforts to ensure that readers have open access to these articles within six months of publication.

Overall expected impact

0

It is expected that the 2013 work programme will through its research and innovation actions address the major societal challenges of coping with climate change and protecting citizens from environmental hazards. It will also boost European competitiveness by developing and strengthening European leadership in environmental innovation, notably by promoting novel applications and tools for improved resource efficiency of natural resources (e.g. water, land, marine), covering both technological and socio-economic innovation. Furthermore, the 2013 work programme will promote and facilitate knowledge transfer, assessment, uptake and exploitation of environmental research and innovation data and results by policy makers, industry and society. In addition, the results obtained will provide support for evidence-based decision-making, notably for EU policies in the field of environment and climate, e.g. soil, water, chemicals, disaster reduction, mitigation and adaptation, and support EU initiatives on climate action, resource efficiency and eco-innovation.

International Cooperation

International cooperation continues to be an integral part of the Environment Theme throughout the work programme and all topics are open for participants from the International Cooperation Partner Countries (ICPC). The strategic approach for international cooperation of EU environmental research includes annual identification of major cooperation countries and/or regions. Efforts will focus on actions that reflect the overarching messages and objectives of Rio+20 and the recent Durban outcome: green economy and sustainable development, paying attention to the Millennium Development Goals and strengthened international climate action. Regional networking for clustering of projects, uptake of research results and knowledge platforms will aim to enhance the scope of future cooperation with Latin America, ASEAN, Mediterranean, Black Sea and North Atlantic third countries. Other issues with international components include climate change (in particular for the Arctic, oceans and atmosphere), natural disasters (Japan and Asia) and GEO capacity building. Contributions to multilateral initiatives such as IPCC and GEO will continue.

Topics requiring or benefitting from the involvement of non-EU partners include:

- o <u>all</u> topics under Challenge 6.1 'Coping with Climate Change',
- ENV.2013.6.2-6 Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the environment using global earth observations,
- ENV.2013.6.3-3 Contribution to the assessment of global water resources through the use of new Earth Observation datasets and techniques,
- o ENV.2013.6.4-3 Coasts at threat in Europe: tsunamis and climate-related risks,

- o ENV.2013.6.5-1 Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy,
- ENV.2013.6.5-4 Knowledge platforms, networking and uptake of research results for strengthened international R&I cooperation.

Cross-thematic approaches

Special attention will be paid to cross-cutting marine and maritime research with the launch of a new cross-thematic call 'The Ocean of Tomorrow : joining research forces to meet challenges in ocean management'. It will be implemented jointly between Theme 2 Food, Agriculture, Fisheries and Biotechnologies, Theme 4 Nanosciences, Nanotechnologies, Materials and New Production Technologies, Theme 5 Energy, Theme 6 Environment (including climate change), and Theme 7 Transport (including aeronautics). The main objective of the call is to promote research and innovation on marine technologies, in particular sensors, anti-biofouling materials, and innovative transport and deployment systems for the offshore energy sector. The topics and funding mechanisms will allow for large, multidisciplinary and multi-stakeholder topics with an appropriate balance between (basic/applied) research, knowledge transfer and demonstration, and to support a number of specific EU policies. The four topics are published in the Work Programmes of all participating Themes, as a cross-thematic call. 'The Ocean of Tomorrow' call (FP7-OCEAN-2013) is subject to a separate call fiche.

A topic is launched in the context of the Public-Private Partnership 'Energy Efficient Building': EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4 'Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings for sustainable urban neighbourhoods', implemented in cooperation with Theme 3 Information and Communication Technologies (ICT), Theme 4 Nanosciences, Nanotechnologies, Materials and New Production Technologies, Theme 5 Energy and Theme 6 Environment (including climate change).

Cross-thematic approaches are also foreseen within this work programme to support actions on:

- raw materials, i.e. the topics ENV.2013.6.2-8 'Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources', ENV.2013.6.3-1 'Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and services' and ENV.2013.6.5-2 'Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society', sub-topic d) 'Raising societal awareness and tackling skill shortages on raw materials'⁴;
- security and EURATOM, i.e. the topic ENV.2013.6.4-4 'Towards stress tests for critical infrastructures against natural hazards¹⁵;
- socio-economic sciences, i.e. the topic ENV.2013.6.2-3 'Transition to sustainable, lowcarbon societies'⁶.

Moreover, due to the nature of the tasks required, the following topics would benefit from the inclusion of participants from socio-economic science disciplines:

⁴ These topics complement actions to be supported under the Theme 4 Nanosciences, Nanotechnologies, Materials and New Production Technologies.

⁵ Co-ordination with related actions under the EURATOM programme and the Theme 10 Security.

⁶ Co-ordination with projects selected under the Theme 8 Socio-economic Sciences and Humanities work programme topic SSH.2013.2.1-1 'Obstacles and prospects for sustainable lifestyles and green economy in Europe'.

0	ENV.2013.6.1-1	Climate-related ocean processes and combined impacts of multiple stressors on the marine environment,
0	ENV.2013.6.1-3	Impacts of higher-end scenarios (global average warming > 2 °C with respect to pre-industrial level),
0	ENV.2013.6.1-5	Quantification of consumption-based emissions of greenhouse gases and assessment of policy options,
0	ENV.2013.6.1-6	Economics of adaptation to climate-change,
0	ENV.2013.6.2-3	Transition to sustainable, low-carbon societies,
0	ENV.2013.6.2-5	Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure,
0	ENV.2013.6.3-1	Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies,
		processes and services,
0	ENV.2013.6.3-2	Eco-innovative demonstration projects,
0	ENV.2013.EIP-1	Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects,
0	ENV.2013.EIP-2	Ensuring the integration of water and innovation
		demonstration projects and support to trans-national networks
		of procurers,
0	EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4	Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings
		for sustainable urban districts,
0	ENV.2013.6.4-3	Coasts at threat in Europe: tsunamis and climate-related risks,
0	ENV.2013.6.5-1	Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy,
0	ENV.2013.6.5-2	Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society,
0	ENV.2013.6.5-3	Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the
		use of environmental data and information,
0	ENV.2013.6.5-5	Network for forward looking activities and assessment on research and innovation prospects.

Theme specific information

The budget of the 2013 work programme is divided into challenges with separate indicative budgets. The work programme 2013 is implemented through a range of funding schemes. The type of funding scheme used and specific features, e.g. SME participation, are described in the topic descriptions in section II and also in section III. For each funding scheme there are upper limits on the requested EU contribution (for details please see the topic descriptions in section II and general call information in section III). Funding limits will be strictly applied as eligibility criteria. Proposals that do not respect this limit will be considered ineligible.

The minimum number of applicants in funding schemes is specified in section III of this work programme. The duration of the project and the requested EU contribution should be in line with a realistic planning of the project. The budget request should also be in line with the needs of the consortia, within the maximum EU contribution, but not necessarily at it.

<u>Usage of Earth Observation data</u>: In the context of cooperation with the European Space Agency (ESA), projects selected for funding are encouraged to utilise ESA Earth Science data. The data, both from ESA missions or third party missions, are for the vast majority of cases available for free web download (further details for ESA missions and Third Party Missions are available at http://eopi.esa.int). Likewise, the utilisation of data produced from different initiatives of ESA or the European Commission, in particular Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES), is encouraged in all activities of the Environment Theme.

(Further details on space data in the context of GMES are available at <u>http://gmesdata.esa.int/web/gsc/home</u>).

<u>Gender dimension</u>: The pursuit of scientific knowledge and its technical application towards society requires the talent, perspectives and insight that can only be assured by increasing diversity in the research workforce. Therefore, all projects are encouraged to have a balanced participation of women and men in their research activities and to raise awareness on combating gender prejudices and stereotypes. When human beings are involved as users, gender differences may exist. These will be addressed as an integral part of the research to ensure the highest level of scientific quality. In addition, specific actions to promote gender equality in research can be financed as part of the proposal, as specified in Appendix 7 of the Negotiation Guidance Notes ⁷.

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/ShowDoc/Extensions+Repository/General+Documentation/Guida nce+documents+for+FP7/Negotiations+and+amendments/negotiation_en.pdf

II CONTENT OF CALLS

Challenge 6.1 Coping with climate change

Indicative budget: EUR 80 million

In the light of cautionary evidence coming from earth observations and the high trends in global greenhouse gas emissions, research will on the one hand focus on reducing key uncertainties linked to the functioning of the earth-climate system and quantification of climate change impacts, and on the other hand explore the potential of adequate mitigation and adaptation policies to contribute to the Roadmap for moving to a competitive low carbon economy in 2050⁸. In particular, research will address the fundamental processes that couple land surface, atmosphere, ice-caps and oceans as well as the cumulative effects of climatic and non-climatic stressors on marine geochemistry and biodiversity. Moreover, research will further explore atmospheric processes and pollutants, spanning the stratosphere and lower troposphere and their impact on climate change and land ecosystems. Research and innovation will contribute to better quantification of impacts associated with high-end scenarios (> 2 °C) in order to inform policy makers of risks, opportunities, costs and benefits linked to different adaptation and mitigation pathways, their synergies and trade-offs. In this context, issues related to climate change and land use, land use change and associated GHG emission monitoring, reporting and verification will also be explored. Specific support to climate policies is also provided through dedicated actions on the quantification of consumption-based emissions and the development of methodologies for estimating adaptation costs at various scales. The participation of non-EU partners in all research proposals may bring added value due to the global nature of climate change research. Within this global context, projects may also consider addressing those parts of the globe — beyond geographical Europe — which may be more affected by climate change and by its consequences, such as polar areas, small island states or European outermost regions where relevant.

ENV.2013.6.1-1 Climate-related ocean processes and combined impacts of multiple stressors on the marine environment – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Oceans play a key role in regulating the climate system. Moreover, marine processes and ecosystems are sensitive to climate change and other stressors. Synergies, combination and feedbacks of single pressures on the marine environment may result in amplified impacts. Under a comprehensive multi-forcing assessment, regional and global scale modelling capabilities, laboratory and field experiments and observation systems should be combined to enhance specific knowledge on key marine-climate research issues, such as:

- relevant climate-related physical-chemical ocean processes and dynamics, including coupled ocean-atmosphere mechanisms, stratification, thermohaline circulation, interaction with the cryosphere;
- cumulative impacts and feedbacks of greenhouse gases increase leading in particular to warming, acidification and deoxygenation and non-climatic stressors (such as

⁸ Commission Communication 'A Roadmap for moving to a competitive low carbon economy in 2050', COM(2011) 112 final of 8.3.2011.

overfishing, pollution, etc.) on marine biogeochemistry, ecological communities, biodiversity, ecosystems and ecosystem services;

• assessment of socio-economic vulnerabilities and evaluation of how potential climatedriven physical and biological changes may affect relevant economic activities and human welfare.

Acknowledging that processes and impacts may be diversified and exacerbated in different regions, like the Arctic, proposals may address different processes and impacts, and may focus on different geographical areas, depending on their specific relevance to the key research challenges.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Improved climate predictions and more accurate quantification of climate change impacts on marine ecosystems and services through the reduction of uncertainties. Improved EU and international policies aimed at protecting the marine environment and safeguarding it as a living resource for human communities, and more effective policy and management options for societal responses to climate change.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.1-2 Atmospheric processes, eco-systems and climate change – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

At all levels, from the lower troposphere to the stratosphere, natural and anthropogenic emissions initiate or affect atmospheric processes which interact, also through feedback mechanisms, with ecosystems and climate. Studies should integrate data from in situ measurements, from space observations and modelling. Large-scale field experiments may be accomplished where appropriate. Research should focus on improving the understanding of key processes, such as:

- at land surface/lower troposphere level, the interaction and feed-backs between atmospheric pollutants (such as ozone and the corresponding precursors), climate change and land ecosystems (in particular vegetation and forests);
- at different levels of the troposphere, the formation and properties of clouds related to biogenic (such as VOCs) and anthropogenic emissions (such as those from aviation and maritime transport) and their climate forcing; and
- at stratospheric level, the causes and expected evolution of ozone depletion over the Arctic region including the coupling between stratospheric processes and climate change and its feedbacks.

Acknowledging that the above-mentioned subjects require fairly different instrumental, observational and modelling capabilities, proposals under this topic may focus on addressing specific atmospheric processes, and may focus on different geographical areas, depending on their specific relevance to the key research challenges.

Proposals should improve the representation of these processes in relevant models and the assessments of socio-economic implications.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected. **Expected impact**: Significant reduction of uncertainties of current state-of-the-art climate predictions at different scales leading to improved EU and international policies aimed at better protecting human and ecosystem health.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic, if addressing related subjects, will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.1-3 Impacts of higher-end scenarios (global average warming > 2 °C with respect to pre-industrial level) – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Current observations and trends show a growth of greenhouse gases emissions which dangerously approach higher-end scenarios leading to a projected average global temperature rise higher than the 2 °C target set by the Copenhagen Accord⁹ and confirmed in Durban¹⁰. A better quantification of impacts and vulnerabilities associated with a range of high-end scenarios is therefore needed in order to inform policy and decision makers of the social and economic risks, opportunities, costs and benefits linked to different adaptation and mitigation pathways — also in relation to tipping points —, their synergies and trade-offs, while appropriately recognizing the inherent uncertainties in long-term projections. Proposals should duly consider recent achievements made in the fields of socio-economic and reference concentration pathways (RCP). For a range of RCPs (leading to high-end, intermediate and 2 °C warming levels) research should assess and compare impacts, vulnerabilities and adaptation options for key economic, social and environmental sectors as well as analyse economy-wide implications. The research should cover different scales — from global to local/regional — and address the time- and path-dependence of adaptation options under the different scenarios.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Innovative and effective mitigation and adaptation strategies and measures that would address multiple national, regional, or global priorities and stakeholders in key economic and social sectors. Assisting the EU in the development and implementation process of international climate agreements via a better quantification of impacts and vulnerabilities. By reducing uncertainties in long-term projections of climate change impacts, improved assessment of the risks, social and economic costs and opportunities of adaptation and mitigation options.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.1-4 Land cover and land-use change and climate change mitigation – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Changes in land-use/land cover and land management practices affect the sources and sinks of greenhouse gases and may alter key physical and biochemical properties and processes (e.g. planetary albedo, energy balance, water and nutrient cycles) and thus have an important impact on climate. Research should quantify the net climate effects of major (past and future) land cover and land use changes (both direct and indirect) in a global context in order to better

⁹ UNFCCC Draft decision -/CP.15, Copenhagen Accord, FCCC/CP/2009/L.7

¹⁰ Decision -/CMP.7 of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol.

assess their mitigation potential. Research should also improve the representation of land cover and land use change in global climate models, evaluate model performance and uncertainty, confront model with earth observation data and develop common metrics for evaluation. The interplay with climate change adaptation should also be explored. Other important drivers such as energy security, water availability and food production and their interplay with climate change also need to be considered at regional and global level in order to establish an integrated assessment approach in developing scenarios, exploring risks, opportunities, trade-offs, calculating costs/gains and taking into account ecosystem services. Furthermore there is a need to further improve the methodologies concerning monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) including a quantitative and comparative assessment of land-use classification data sources.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Input to the design, assessment and implementation of European and international policies related to land use changes and climate change mitigation through more accurate models and methodologies. Support the development of good practice guidelines regarding monitoring, reporting and verification (MRV) also with reference to indirect land use change (ILUC) criteria.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.1-5 Quantification of consumption-based emissions of greenhouse gases and assessment of policy options – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

In the face of growing human population and increased levels of consumers' income worldwide, and particularly in emerging economies, unchanged global trends in consumption of goods and services are projected to encourage an accelerated increase in aggregate greenhouse gases emission levels, reducing the likelihood of keeping global average temperature increase below 2 °C with respect to pre-industrial levels. It is therefore necessary to complement existing domestic greenhouse gases (GHG) emission reduction efforts with adequate policy instruments that address the influence of consumption patterns on both national and global GHG emission levels and trends. There is a need to develop further analytical tools (e.g. conceptual frameworks, economic models, accounting methods, behavioural economics) to better quantify global emissions related to consumption of goods and services, fully understand the drivers of upward trends and identify demand-side tools and policies that can trigger, over the short-, medium- and long-term, a change in consumption patterns towards a low-carbon future. In a context of an increasingly globalised world, research activities will also explore the transformations in the international flows of trade, investments, technology transfer and diffusion of innovation associated with consumptionbased emission pathways, and the related policy implications. Feasibility and effectiveness of possible domestic and international measures aimed at reducing overall consumption-based emissions should be assessed. Proper treatment of uncertainty has to be associated with quantification methodologies. Limitations in data availability also need to be addressed through appropriate proxies.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000. Up to one proposal can be selected. **Expected impact**: Stimulation of innovative European and international climate policies and services due to the improved shared knowledge base on consumption emissions. More effective policy mix for achieving the objectives of the EU Climate and Energy package and the Roadmap for moving to a competitive low-carbon economy in 2050¹¹.

ENV.2013.6.1-6 Economics of adaptation to climate-change – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

More reliable quantification of the costs of climate-change consequences and assessment of adaptation options is required to further substantiate the economic case for adaptation to climate change. Research will develop and apply new and/or improve existing methodological frameworks for assessing the costs, benefits and effectiveness of climate change adaptation policies and measures in Europe at different levels. Research should focus on the reduction of uncertainties (and cascading uncertainty), increased comparability across different time horizons (short-, medium- and long-term) and geographical scales, better reflection of both monetary and non-monetary costs and benefits of adaptation, and quantification of additional costs of measures/policies due to adaptation to climate change (e.g. for measures/policies that are not solely motivated by the need to adapt to climate change, it is important to be able to better estimate the increase in cost due to climate change as compared to a baseline scenario). Moreover, research should provide methodologies for scaling up information generated and collected at the local level in a bottom-up approach and improve the understanding of the indirect effects of adaptation measures/policies on the overall economy and on growth and jobs.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Support to the European Adaptation Strategy¹² by reducing uncertainties in costing of adaptation to climate change. Provide decision makers and planners at all levels with more reliable estimation of cost and benefits to drive and prioritise adaptation actions. The increased knowledge base will improve the prospects for innovative policy making and services in adaptation. Improved understanding of how adaptation can be integrated into planning frameworks and budget cycles, how climate change impacts and adaptation can affect the economy and society at large.

¹¹ See footnote 8.

¹² White paper — Adapting to climate change : towards a European framework for action COM(2009) 147 final of 1.4.2009.

Challenge 6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas

Indicative budget: EUR 88 million (of which EUR 15 million for the joint call 'The Ocean of Tomorrow')

The challenge is to improve the knowledge base on how natural systems react to pressures in order to underpin the implementation of the transition phase to resilient, sustainable and resource efficient societies. Research will examine how concepts such as biodiversity offsets and no net loss of biodiversity can contribute to this transition. Research will investigate the potential of Green Infrastructure (including wooded and green areas in the urban environment) and the restoration economy and will deliver integrated governance strategies and tools for land and water resources management under complex, multi-stressor conditions, including emerging pollutants and pollutant mixtures, in line with the relevant EU policies. Innovative solutions will be sought to protect and conserve soil resources through combating land degradation and desertification and through identifying soil compaction. Innovative applications for Earth Observation in land use and ecosystem monitoring will be supported. Research will also address challenges associated with the sustainable exploitation, management and conservation of Europe's deep sea resources. Development of marine technology, notably sensors, will be supported in cooperation with other Themes.

ENV.2013.6.2-1 Water resources management under complex, multistressor conditions – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

The challenge is to underpin decision making, risk assessment and management of water systems under complex multiple stress conditions (combination of organic and inorganic pollution, flow and morphology alteration, surface and groundwater abstraction, land use change, climate variability and change, invasive species, pathogens, etc.). Research should have a clear user perspective and aim to enhance our understanding of stressors interactions, species interactions, species-stressor-relationships and impacts on the ecological functioning, stability and resilience of the aquatic ecosystems. Based on innovative methodologies, research should develop holistic approaches and tools to diagnose changes in the ecological status of the surface water bodies in relation to multiple stress conditions, identify the relevant stressors which are responsible for the deterioration of the chemical and ecological recovery as a consequence of alternative management measures on different spatial scales.

It should also aim at the development of integrated impact assessment tools, coupling biophysical with socio-economic assessment of impacts (provision of ecosystem services) to improve water resource protection and management at EU and river basin levels.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Improved water status, better implementation of water policy and optimal decision making in water resources management under complex multiple stress conditions. Development of more cost-effective Programmes of Measures (POMs) to improve the

ecological status of surface water bodies from the local to the river basin scale – also in the context of ecosystem goods and services – in line with the EU Water Framework Directive¹³. **Specific feature**: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.2-2 Toxicants, environmental pollutants and land and water resources management – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Mixtures of toxic compounds have been found in most environmental compartments, including soils, sediments and water bodies. In water, attention has focused on the so-called priority substances; the list of these is subject to regular review. There is evidence to suggest that many emerging pollutants, for which a rather limited knowledge base is currently available, may be posing a significant ecological and human health risk through their presence in water bodies. The research should provide a common knowledge base on a wide range of toxicants and other chemicals acting as environmental and in particular aquatic pollutants. It should focus on emerging pollutants (pollutants whose potential risk we are only now becoming aware of) and their metabolites and transformation products as well as their synergistic effects. It should improve our understanding and modelling capacity regarding the sources, transport pathways and transfer times (air, soil, sediments, groundwater and surface waters, including receiving waters, biota) and fate (including degradation, (bio)accumulation, spatial and temporal variability of concentrations in different compartments) of these pollutants as well as regarding the quantification of their environmental impact. It should analyse the implications for the overall assessment of the ecological and human health risks posed by the presence and levels of these substances in the (aquatic) environment in the light of existing information on their inherent toxicity. The research should deliver chemical analysis methods that are sufficiently sensitive to detect and monitor the pollutants at concentrations below their predicted no-effect levels. It should also include the development of effect-based tools (such as biomarkers, bio-indicators and bioassays) for the identification and early detection of pollutants causing harmful ecological impacts (as a step towards linking chemical and ecological status of water) and for assessing the impacts of pollutant mixtures and should deliver methods to quantify impact in situ on a single-organism, population or community level.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 12 000 000. Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Evidence based development of environmental and especially water policies with respect to emerging pollutants through improved knowledge and tools. New knowledge regarding control measures and abatement options, including their effectiveness in meeting the environmental objectives of the Water Framework Directive. Identification of substances with emissions which might require regulation because of the risk posed to or via the aquatic environment, and evidence based reviews of the list of priority substances under the Water Framework Directive. Development of innovative identification and detection tools.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation,

¹³ Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy, OJ L327, 22.12.2000, p. 1.

before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.2-3 Transition to sustainable, low-carbon societies – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Fundamental societal transformations are required in order to move towards sustainable, resource-efficient, low-carbon and climate resilient European societies consistent with the objectives set, amongst others, in the EU's Sustainable Development and Biodiversity Strategies, the 'Climate and Energy package (20/20/20 targets)', the Roadmap for moving to a competitive low-carbon economy in 2050¹⁴ and the Roadmap for a Resource Efficient Europe¹⁵. Research will investigate values, policies and mechanisms behind societal transformation and the knowledge gained from experiences at different scales with such societal transitions and their trajectories. Using an integrated and trans-disciplinary approach, research will identify and analyse in detail the key challenges of the transition to sustainable, low carbon and resource efficient societies (including their interaction and feedbacks). Among the issues that may be taken into consideration are:

- institutional frameworks for innovative environmental governance at multiple scales;
- the potential contribution of local and regional action to European policies;
- the application of market-based mechanisms to new areas, and the use of innovative financing strategies;
- the factors enabling comprehension, behavioural changes, and the acceptance of green, low-carbon technologies and business models;
- the development of new adaptive strategies focused upon sustaining prosperity, wellbeing, quality of life and the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity, including through novel concepts of sustainable management; and
- the novel and sustainable exploitation and use of green infrastructure and the development of new strategies for no net loss of biodiversity, ecosystems and their services as a component of the ecosystem approach.

Opportunities for innovation (including social innovation), co-benefits and job creation will be identified and studied to help the private sector, households, communities, local and regional governments respond and adapt to global environmental changes and support the development of green economic strategies in Europe.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Better implementation of the EU's Sustainable Development and Biodiversity Strategies, the 'Climate and Energy package (20/20/20 targets)' and the Roadmap for moving to a competitive low-carbon economy in 2050 through increased understanding of societal transformations processes in the transition to sustainable, low carbon societies. Stimulation of public debate on social innovation and bottom-up approaches. Provision of assessment of options and experiences to policy makers, resulting in improved decision making and increased cost-efficiency of policy response, as well as better understanding of the socio-economic and environmental impact of transition.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic as well as projects selected under the Socio-economic Sciences and Humanities work programme topic SSH.2013.2.1-1 'Obstacles and prospects for sustainable lifestyles and green economy in Europe' will be linked through a

¹⁴ See footnote 8.

¹⁵ See footnote 3.

coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

ENV.2013.6.2-4 Sustainable land care in Europe – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Taking full stock of existing scientific data and results obtained from relevant EU, international and national funded projects, integrative and interdisciplinary research must fill the knowledge gaps in the understanding of the complexity and functioning of soil systems and their interaction with human activities. Research will support the development of innovative, mitigation and restoration measures at appropriate scales to combat soil degradation processes, including desertification, or threats as defined in the EU Soil Thematic Strategy (e.g. soil erosion, loss of organic matter, salinisation, compaction, sealing) under various climatic and environmental conditions around Europe. Through pilot projects or case studies including a demonstration phase and involving relevant stakeholders (including developers, industry and regulators), research will develop and validate measures to address these soil degradation processes or threats and to restore soil functions and ecosystem services. It should also assess the cost-effectiveness of these measures. It will also carry out an integrated impact assessment of the existing EU policies and strategies related to EU soil and land use to establish potential incoherence and contradictions.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Contribution to the achievement of the objectives of the EU Soil Thematic Strategy; underpinning of sustainable land use and management; support to the implementation of the EU Soil Sealing Guidelines; underpinning of the implementation of the EU Floods Directive¹⁶; support to Member States in fulfilling relevant monitoring requirements under the UNCCD, particularly the mandatory impact indicators; support to the implementation of the European Landscape Convention¹⁷; provision of relevant information for a variety of EU policies, including agriculture, energy, and regional development.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.2-5 Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Urban green infrastructure, such as green roof and walls, parks, urban forestry and tree plantations, urban farming areas, etc., can contribute to reverse the trend of biodiversity loss. It provides key environmental services in urban areas, improves the quality of life and health, strengthens diverse ecosystems and their services and links them with the ones in rural areas.

¹⁶ Directive 2007/60/EC of the European Parliament and Council of 23 October 2007 on the assessment and management of flood risks (Floods Directive), OJ L 288, 6.11.2007, p. 27.

¹⁷ Florence, 20.10.2000, CETS No 176.

It can help build resilience, for example in terms of adapting to climate change or coping with noise, and make important socio-cultural and economic contributions as part of a coherent ecosystem approach to governance.

The project should provide a sound evidence base for the development of green infrastructures and strategies for planning and design of green infrastructure in cities and urban areas, appropriately adapted to scales from the local to the city region level.

Research needs to assess the potential of sustainable use, as well as the status, trends, role and needs of urban biodiversity and ecosystem goods and services provided by urban green infrastructure in the face of urbanisation, climate change and challenges to health and wellbeing like noise. Of particular interest is the exploration of the innovation potential (including social innovation and health promotion) regarding the provision, valuation, protection and sustainable use of urban ecosystem services. Research will focus on linking environmental services with socio-cultural and economic services and engagement with local communities, as a contribution to a green economy.

Of particular interest is the study of planning and governance approaches that support the conservation and restoration of urban biodiversity and the building and maintaining of green infrastructure, taking into account conflicts of interest between various land uses and green infrastructures. Research will require an interdisciplinary approach.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Enhanced provision of ecosystem services by green infrastructure in correlation with environmental policy objectives. Link environmental services with sociocultural and health aspects. Innovative contributions of ecosystem services to urban green economy. Tools/incentives for better implementation of environmental policies and improvement of environmental status, including the implementation of the Soil Sealing Guidelines. Enhanced collaboration between disciplines and stakeholders involved with urban green infrastructure, particularly at the local and the regional scale.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.2-6 Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the environment using global earth observations – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Views on cultivation practices have significantly shifted to encompass concerns about sustainability. In this context, the present topic aims at conducting the necessary research and innovation activities that can contribute to establishing a global observation system for the assessment of the impact of cropland areas and crop change (including agroforestry) on the environment.

Research under this topic should integrate coordinated satellite and in situ data into the GEOSS Data-CORE, enable the interoperability of this data and make it available to users in support of the development of a global system of systems for crop monitoring. It should also provide, in collaboration with SMEs, Earth Observation techniques, crop and agricultural land use monitoring methods, model development, and spatial and statistical analysis, with the purpose of better understanding land use changes arising from shifts in cultivation practices. Finally it should contribute to the development of crop production projections through the use of global mapping strategies in order to assess the changes in the distribution of cropland

areas and the associated cropping systems and evaluate the impacts of these changes on biodiversity, ecosystems and the broader environment.

The project should establish an international partnership, to enable the global agricultural and environmental monitoring community to compare results based on disparate sources of data over a variety of global cropping systems.

It should also ensure that a collaboration mechanism with GEO (Group on Earth Observation) is put in place to support the G20 Global Agricultural Geo-Monitoring Initiative (GEO-GLAM) to strengthen global agricultural monitoring by improving the use of Earth Observation for crop production projections.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Significant European contribution to the G20 GEO-GLAM initiative, reinforcing the awareness of the initiative among national decision and policy makers about the impact of agriculture on the global environment. Networking of agricultural and environmental monitoring and research organisations. Capacity building contributing to a sustainable agricultural environment and improved food security. Improved European and global agricultural monitoring and crop yield forecasting. Earth Observation capacity building, enabling the prediction of the impact of crop production on the ecosystems. Improved transparency of agricultural crop production, international coordination and risk-management capacity. European leadership for an initial global agricultural land monitoring system based on both satellite and in situ observations.

Specific feature

This research should be conducted in collaboration with international partners from outside the EU. The participation and appropriateness of non-EU partners in the consortium will be carefully considered during the evaluation.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.2-7 Development of advanced technologies and tools for mapping, diagnosing, protecting and managing cultural landscapes in rural areas – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Current environmental processes (e.g. climate change, water and soil pollution, erosion) and socio-economic pressure (e.g. urbanisation and industrialisation of rural areas, requirements for transport and energy supply etc.) are putting at risk Europe's cultural landscapes characterised by archaeological or historical remains. Improved knowledge of the impact of environmental and human factors, which have shaped landscapes over time, is essential to better understand their components, help develop resilience to change and better define protection and risk mitigation strategies.

Research should target rural landscapes with significant archaeological or historical components deserving special protection at local or regional scale and should aim to develop new technologies and methodologies for mapping, diagnosing, protecting and managing cultural landscapes and decision-making tools to support policies, strategies and governance implemented by regulating/public authorities, landowners, planners and managers. In particular, spatial analysis, remote sensing, sampling and characterisation of historic habitat and artefacts, protocols, planning, conservation and remediation actions, should underline and

respect the main features and values of cultural landscapes in rural areas, while also taking into account the ecological and 'natural' dimension of the territories concerned. Selected case studies should clearly demonstrate how the technologies and tools are effective in assessing various types and levels of degradation under different geographic and climatic conditions, and in validating strategies for landscape protection and restoration, while combining cultural and natural assets. The participation of public authorities, agencies or associations of citizens, at appropriate levels, is recommended.

Funding scheme: SME-targeted Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Contribution to innovative schemes and sustainable best practices for protection or remediation schemes applied to cultural landscapes of historic and archaeological value. Create a favourable economic impact on the rural areas and sectors of activities concerned, including the impact for tourism, by exploitation and transfer of research results at a regional, national, or European scale by eco-innovative services and SMEs. Protection of cultural landscapes and assessment of socio-economic impacts of their protection. Implementation of the European Landscape Convention¹⁸.

Specific feature: This topic is targeted at SMEs, in appropriate partnership with research institutions and national/regional authorities and other stakeholders directly concerned.

Additional eligibility criterion: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 20 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Although the deep sea and sub-sea floors environments are still largely unknown, current research suggests that these environments modulate the global climate and contain immense mineral and biological resources. Because of the slow rates associated with deep sea processes, these systems are also particularly vulnerable to intervention and they will require careful management to preserve their function for future generations as human activities move into deeper waters. Research should therefore focus on the assessment of the environmental impacts of the exploitation of deep sea raw material resources and in particular rare earth minerals, hydrothermal mineral deposits, methane hydrates and similar seafloor and subseafloor resources that can be extracted using various techniques. It should also enhance the understanding of associated geological processes, e.g. the effect on the stability of methane hydrates and its repercussions for climate change or continental slope failures/tsunamis that endanger both ecosystems and society. Research should also assess the resilience of deep sea and sub-seafloor ecosystems and of biodiversity to resource extraction activities. It should determine recovery conditions, associated timescales and tipping points beyond which recovery is irreversible. Practices should be developed, including management practices, standards, legal instruments, covering national jurisdictions and international waters, concerning economically viable, environmentally sound and socially acceptable resource exploration and extraction. Finally it should assess and demonstrate new monitoring technologies and systems to fully determine the functioning of the deep sea and sub-seafloor ecosystems where the resources are found.

¹⁸ See footnote 17.

A pan-European, multi-disciplinary, cross-sectoral approach to ensure that knowledge and innovation are shared across Europe will be required.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Enhanced knowledge base on issues related to the environmental impacts and processes linked to deep sea exploitation activities. Determination of the boundary conditions of environmentally sustainable exploitation activities. Improved governance of deep sea environments. Innovative technologies and systems, leading to increased European competitiveness in the marine technology sector. Substantial contribution to the implementation of relevant EU initiatives such as the Integrated Maritime Policy¹⁹, 'A Resource-Efficient Europe' roadmap²⁰ and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive²¹. Facilitate synergies with international initiatives like the Integrated Ocean Drilling Programme (IODP)²².

Specific feature: A significant involvement from the industrial sector will be required, ranging from large industrial companies (e.g. deep sea mining oil & gas, telecommunications) to SMEs. The assessment and demonstration of relevant technologies should be included as an activity within any proposal submitted to this topic.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

¹⁹ Commission Communication 'An Integrated Maritime Policy for the European Union' (COM(2007) 574 final) of 10.10.2007.

²⁰ See footnote 3.

²¹ Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive), OJ L 164, 25.6.2008, p. 19. ²² www.iodp.org

JOINT CALL 'THE OCEAN OF TOMORROW' Fostering research and innovation on marine technologies

Topics implemented in cooperation with Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, and Biotechnology, NMP, Energy, Environment (including Climate Change) and Transport Themes.

The indicative budget of joint call 'The Ocean of Tomorrow' is EUR 55 million in 2013, of which:

- EUR 19 million from Theme 2 Food, Agriculture and Fisheries, and Biotechnology (KBBE)
- EUR 7 million from Theme 4 Nanosciences, Nanotechnologies, Materials and new Production Technologies (NMP)
- EUR 4 million from Theme 5 Energy
- EUR 15 million from Theme 6 Environment (including climate change)
- EUR 10 million from Theme 7 Transport (including Aeronautics)

For further details of the implementation of the call please see the Annex 5 of the Cooperation work programme.

Aims of the call

The EU Strategy for Marine and Maritime Research²³ supports the EU integrated maritime policy's objective of a thriving maritime economy, making the most of marine resources in an environmentally sustainable manner. It helps deliver the full potential of the maritime economy to the "EU 2020" goal of a smart, inclusive and sustainable growth for Europe.

In this framework, 'The Ocean of Tomorrow' calls for proposals address cross-cutting marine and maritime challenges, requiring interdisciplinary research. The development of marine technologies is crucial to assess and monitor the good environmental status of the seas, monitor current and new activities and contribute to their sustainable operation.

This is the case of marine sensing technologies necessary to improve reliable measurements of key parameters in the sea, and of new materials that can avoid bio-fouling on mobile and stationary structures and equipments. New marine technologies need also to be developed both in relation to the cost-effective installation, maintenance, operations and decommissioning of large offshore wind farms and related logistics.

This call will address these technologies by bringing together, in an integrated way, researchers, technology providers, SMEs and end-users in order to foster innovation in these three key areas.

²³ COM (2008) 534 final of 3.9.2008 - Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: "A European Strategy for Marine and Maritime Research: A coherent European Research Area framework in support of a sustainable use of oceans and seas".

OCEAN 2013.1 – Biosensors for real time monitoring of biohazard and man made chemical contaminants in the marine environment

Due to growing concerns about the health of the oceans and their capacity to continue to provide resources, goods and services as well as associated risks to the human health, there is an increasing demand for real-time monitoring of the environmental status of marine water quality and the provision of early warning systems. Real-time in situ monitoring of marine chemical contaminants (including emerging pollutants, biohazards e.g. algal toxins) is of utmost importance for the sustainable management and exploitation of the seas and their resources.

Technology wise, marine biosensors have the potential to offer unique features for highly specific and precise measurements, including under multi-stressor conditions, by combining technological elements (including nanotechnologies) and bio-receptors in a single measurement device. Thus they could open new avenues to respond to the growing need for accurate real time monitoring of the quality of sea water and marine ecosystems to support relevant EU legislations such as the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD)²⁴.

Based on most recent knowledge on genomics and physiology as well as on materials, nanotechnology, information technologies and relevant existing detection/monitoring technologies, the research under this topic should aim at developing innovative real-time, in situ biosensors, taking advantage of nanotechnology when applicable. These sensors should target the detection and monitoring of high impact and presently difficult to measure emerging pollutants and other substances, such as algal toxins and their producers, synthetic organics, herbicides/pesticides and persistent organic pollutants (POP), including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) and should enable early diagnosis of deterioration of the environmental status of the marine waters in multi-stressor conditions.

The proposals should include a test phase to demonstrate the potential of these biosensor(s) for in situ environmental and/or aquaculture related applications. Measurement devices should show ability to compete with/complement non real time alternatives and provide faster, less expensive, and less time-consuming measurements than the currently available instrumental analytical methods. A proof of concept in terms of product and/or process should be delivered within the project demonstrating industrial manufacturability.

The multi-disciplinary approach of the research undertaken is essential to address the topic. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "S/T quality". The multi-sectoral composition of the partnership and the participation of industrial partners and relevant end-users are essential for the implementation of the project. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "Implementation".

Funding scheme: Collaborative project

Several projects may be funded within the total budget of the topic (EUR 15 000 000).

Additional eligibility criteria:

- The requested European Union contribution shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000 per proposal.

- Collaborative projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the requested EU contribution going to SME(s) is 25% or more of the total requested EU contribution. This

²⁴ Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for community action in the field of marine environmental policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive), OJ L 164 of 25 June 2008.

will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

Expected impact:

New biosensors in the field of marine environmental monitoring will:

- Enable early detection and more effective monitoring of the marine environment and its status and implementation of appropriate management actions in line with the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD);
- Improve sustainable management and exploitation of marine resources (such as fisheries and aquaculture) in particular the monitoring of quality of shellfish waters and minimise risks to human health;
- Provide competitive advantage and leadership to European industry, for example within the fields of biotechnology, sensor development, diagnostic technologies and nanotechnology.

OCEAN 2013.2 - Innovative multifunctional sensors for in-situ monitoring of marine environment and related maritime activities

There is an urgent need to improve the in-situ component of the ocean observing systems to achieve an appropriate and comprehensive understanding of the functioning of the marine environment at different geographic, temporal scales and the monitoring of marine and maritime activities to ensure their sustainable development. As commercially available sensors tend to be too large, expensive, and power-hungry for widespread use, reducing the cost for acquisition of data is a key priority in order to implement EU legislations such as the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD), the Common Fisheries Policy CFP), support international initiatives such as the Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) and the Global Earth Observation System of System (GEOSS).

In this context the topic seeks to develop robust, easily usable across multiples platforms, cost effective multifunctional sensors and their packages that provide reliable in-situ measurements of key parameters. Research and demonstration activities under this topic shall address in a comprehensive manner all the following aspects:

1/ Developing cost-effective sensors suitable for large-scale production, taking advantage of "new generation" technologies such as within the fields of miniaturisation, communication, positioning systems, disposable technologies, and IT tools, software, energy storage and usage.

2/ Sensors should be compact, autonomous multifunctional integrated packages that could be deployed using free floating devices or, buoys, platforms, or ships of opportunities including fishing vessels. The sensors must be developed as precompetitive prototypes and field tested in close cooperation with stakeholders such as sensor designers, SME's, managers of monitoring/observing systems, marine industry e.g fishermen and end-users. An essential part of this topic will be to ensure technology transfer through an integrated approach, bridging between laboratory testing and commercially viable product.

3/ Addressing data flow issues, including data acquisition, access and retrieval, storage, transmission, standardisation, and pre-processing. The projects should take advantage of the

latest web enablement technology for setting up sensors' networks suitable for open access and data sharing.

4/ Making the sensors fully interoperable with existing observing systems and compatible with standard requirement such as the EU Fisheries Data Collection Framework, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive, the INSPIRE directive²⁵, the GMES and GOOS/GEOSS initiatives.

The multi-disciplinary approach of the research undertaken is essential to address the topic. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "S/T quality". The multisectoral composition of the partnership and the participation of industrial partners and relevant end-users are essential for the implementation of the project. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "Implementation".

Funding scheme: Collaborative project

Several projects may be funded within the total budget of the topic (EUR 15 000 000).

Additional eligibility criteria:

- The requested European Union contribution shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000 per proposal.

- Collaborative projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the requested EU contribution going to SME(s) is 30% or more of the total requested EU contribution. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

Expected impact:

The projects will:

- Provide a large increase in the temporal and geographic coverage from in-situ marine sensors to enhance the European contribution to Global Monitoring of the Oceans;
- Increase availability of standardised in-situ data that is suitable for integration within key marine observation, modelling and monitoring systems and reduce ocean modelling uncertainty;
- Reduce cost of data collection system in support of fisheries management;
- Advance competitiveness for European Industry's & particularly SME's within the Marine sensing sector;
- Enable better cooperation between key sectors (Manufacturing Industry, ICT, Maritime Industry, Marine Science, Fisheries etc.);
- Support implementation of European Maritime Policies (MSFD, CFP, IMP, etc.);
- Promote new discoveries leading to better understanding of the seas.

OCEAN 2013.3 Innovative antifouling materials for maritime applications

Biofouling is a major concern for mobile (e.g. ships) and stationary (e.g. aquaculture cages or offshore power generation systems) maritime structures, sensors and equipments. It negatively affects marine and maritime activities by creating a need for regular maintenance,

²⁵ Directive 2007/2/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 March 2007 establishing an Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Community (INSPIRE)

which is costly, might disrupt operations and is potentially polluting. With the purpose of avoiding toxic biocides and heavy metals used in antifouling coatings, novel alternative cost-efficient and environmentally friendly approaches are needed.

The proposals under this topic should focus on developing new, well beyond the state of the art, antifouling materials and should address in an integrative way mobile and stationary maritime applications.

On the basis of a thorough analysis of the state of the art, research could draw on the whole range of antifouling materials e.g. foul release approach, biomimetics, marine biotechnology based coatings, polymers etc. The proposals should include benchmarking of existing materials, technologies and on-going research. In this sense environmental and economic factors, as well as performance, must be duly considered.

Improvement in the understanding of marine biofouling processes, including their relation with biocorrosion, with respect of the developed materials should be an integral part of the proposals. For the resolution of the technological bottlenecks impeding the achievement of well performing final materials and products, applicants are welcome to investigate and exploit the potential offered by converging technologies such as e.g. materials science and engineering, maritime technology, nanotechnology and biotechnology.

The proposals should include relevant field testing for all the selected applications. Development, improvement and/or standardisation of relevant protocols should be included. Proof of concept in terms of product and/or process should be delivered within the project, excluding commercially usable prototypes (in compliance with European Commission Communication 2006/C323/01), but convincingly proving scalability towards industrial needs.

In the case of marine biotechnology based approaches the issues of supply and the need for the biobased active antifouling compounds to be produced in bulk, as required for final commercial production should be given due consideration.

The proposals should follow a life cycle approach for the new materials and their selected applications also taking into account issues of cost efficiency, effective life span, production, handling, maintenance, environmental impact, ecotoxicological profile and end of life. The proposals should include assessment of the environmental, health and toxicological effects according to REACH²⁶, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals and/or relevant international standards.

The multi-disciplinary approach of the research undertaken is essential to address the topic. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "S/T quality". The multi-sectoral composition of the partnership and the participation of industrial partners and relevant end-users are essential for the implementation of the project. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "Implementation".

Funding scheme: Collaborative project

Several projects may be funded within the total budget of the topic (EUR 15 000 000).

Additional eligibility criteria:

²⁶ Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), establishing a European Chemicals Agency, amending Directive 1999/45/EC and repealing Council Regulation (EEC) No 793/93 and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1488/94 as well as Council Directive 76/769/EEC and Commission Directives 91/155/EEC, 93/67/EEC, 93/105/EC and 2000/21/EC

- The requested European Union contribution shall not exceed EUR 8 000 000 per proposal.
- Collaborative projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the requested EU contribution going to SME(s) is 25% or more of the total requested EU contribution. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

Expected impacts:

The projects will:

- Increase efficiency and competitiveness of maritime activities based on mobile and/or stationary maritime structures (transport, aquaculture, fisheries, marine energy) by reducing operation and life-cycle-costs, negative impacts on the marine environment and, in particular for the transport sector, CO2 emissions;
- Enhance competitiveness and sustainability of the European biotechnology, and/or materials related industry;
- Better understanding/assessment the scope of existing antifouling materials and technologies;
- Contribute to the implementation of EU policies, Environment policy (e.g. the Marine Strategy Framework Directive, REACH), Transport policy (Roadmap to a Single European transport Area Towards a competitive and resource efficient transport system) as well as industrial and innovation policy, such as the EU Strategy for Key Enabling Technologies and the Lead Market Initiative on Bio-based products.

OCEAN 2013.4 Innovative transport and deployment systems for the offshore wind energy sector

In its Communication "Offshore Wind Energy: Action needed to deliver on the Energy Policy Objectives for 2020 and beyond", the Commission underlines that the exploitable potential of offshore wind by 2020 is likely to be 30-40 GW, and in the 2030 time horizon it could be up to 150 GW.

In 2007, the Energy Wind Association assessed that achieving 40 GW by 2020 will mean that 7,800 turbines of 5 MW need to be built over the next 13 years. Those turbines have to be assembled, transported and installed on sites.

The Strategic Energy Technology Plan (SET-Plan) European Wind Initiative identifies transport and logistic issues as key elements for the deployment and maintenance of offshore wind farms. The TP Wind Strategic Research Agenda also points to research needs both in relation to the cost-effective installation, maintenance, operation and decommissioning of large offshore wind farms as well as to transport, logistics and equipment needs.

In its Communication on Strategic goals and recommendations for the EU's maritime transport policy until 2018, the Commission stresses that maritime transport is an important instrument of the European energy policy. Amongst others offshore servicing vessels are considered as increasingly important aspect for ensuring the well functioning of the energy market.

Research activities under this topic shall address the following aspects:

- Development of innovative and cost-effective deployment strategies for large-scale turbines, including building and testing onshore;
- Elaboration of optimal logistical processes and on-land transport links for large offshore structures
- Design of novel vessel types and equipment for installation, maintenance and decommissioning and validation at reduced scale;
- Development of safety procedures for installation, operation and maintenance activities, regarding both offshore wind structures and the vessels;
- Improved operations and maintenance including the enhanced role of remote condition monitoring and systems with reduced human intervention;
- Development of new business models at European level for large offshore systems based on integrated life-cycle approaches;
- Development of methods and tools to assess the field performance of offshore wind farms servicing vessels and for optimised service activities in terms of lead time and energy usage.

Proposals are expected to include validation activities at reduced but industrially relevant scale using testing models and where possible tests at real scale using existing infrastructure and equipment, adapting those to validate models and management tools. Tests should also address extreme conditions. The proposal should cover both ground based and floating wind parks.

The multi-disciplinary approach of the research undertaken is essential to address the topic. Knowledge exchange with oil/gas and maritime sectors is expected. These aspects will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "S/T quality". The multi-sectoral composition of the partnership and the participation of industrial partners and relevant end-users are essential for the implementation of the project. It will be considered during the evaluation of the criterion related to "Implementation".

In the framework of the SET-Plan European Industrial Initiatives a specific monitoring and knowledge sharing mechanism will be established under the auspices of the Commission and the selected project will be expected to participate.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

Up to one project may be funded.

Additional eligibility criteria:

The requested European Union contribution shall not exceed EUR 10 000 000 per proposal.

Expected impact: The project will:

- Contribute to the implementation of the roadmap activity of the European Wind Initiative aiming at supporting offshore take-off in the medium-term;
- Contribute to the development of new niche markets for the European shipbuilding and shipping industries thereby contributing to competitiveness of the sector and to the creation of new jobs.

Challenge 6.3 Improving resource efficiency

Indicative budget: EUR 95 million (of which EUR 40 million for the call ENV.2013.WATER and EUR 6 million for the Public Private Partnership 'Energy Efficient Building Initiative')

Improving resource efficiency will help Europe to stimulate its economy and face the challenge of sustainable growth at a time of increasing energy prices, carbon constraints and greater competition for limited resources and markets. Research and innovation activities will aim to address the challenge of transitioning to a green economy while supporting important EU policy commitments included in the Roadmap on a Resource-Efficient Europe²⁷ and the Eco-Innovation Action Plan²⁸ and contributing to measuring progress towards the green economy. Research will also contribute to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnerships on 'Water' and 'Raw Materials'. Research and innovation will promote the development and testing of highly eco-innovative technologies, processes and services to valorise urban wastes and recover raw materials from industrial wastes, favouring a bottomup approach, while also considering macro-level impacts, including rebound effects. Ecoinnovation demonstration projects in selected areas will aim to improve the viability of cutting-edge technologies and foster the exploitation and up-take of new solutions, management and business models enhancing the efficiency and sustainability of resource use. The latter will increase the chances of market penetration and contribute to the implementation of current environmental standards. These activities will also support technologies and tools for strengthening eco-industries in the area of cultural heritage. In the area of raw materials activities will be undertaken in cooperation with other Themes, e.g. cutting-edge technologies, processes and services for the optimum use of raw materials. Global assessment of water resources will be also performed based on the integration of in situ and space observation data.

ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative technologies, processes and services – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

The overall objective of this topic is to reduce environmental impacts through innovative, breakthrough solutions that lead to a reduced demand for raw materials and contribute to more efficient use of materials generally, thus supporting important EU policy commitments reflected in the Roadmap to a Resource-Efficient Europe and helping to create a bridge with future Horizon 2020 activities on 'Climate action, resource efficiency and raw materials'. Proposals must focus on solid waste management (including existing industrial and urban waste dumps) and address one of the following two sub-topics:

a) *Valorisation of urban solid waste*. Research should focus on the development of innovative solutions which aim for a radical change in the way of collecting, handling, separating, processing, upcycling or transforming urban solid wastes and/or the development of new added-value products and services with good market potential based on recycled urban waste. This activity should contribute to more efficient and cost-effective urban mining and to a more circular economy.

b) *Recovery of valuable raw materials from industrial waste*. Research should address new, radical, different and sustainable solutions for the collection, recovery and preparation for

²⁷ See footnote 3.

²⁸ http://ec.europa.eu/environment/etap/inaction/pdfs/COMM_PDF_COM_2011_0899_F_EN_COMMUNICATION.pdf

reuse of raw materials (like e.g. critical metals and minerals as defined in the context of the Raw Materials initiative²⁹) from waste from key industrial sectors such as construction, chemicals, aerospace, machinery and equipment, automotive or ICT. New business models and reuse-oriented services to enable an efficient management of raw materials should be also considered. This topic complements related activities to be supported under Theme 4 Nanosciences, Nanotechnologies, Materials and New Production Technologies.

In both cases, proposals should demonstrate how the research foreseen will contribute to improving the environment, including how it will promote the development of new economic opportunities, improve resource efficiency and boost competitiveness. Proposals should also demonstrate that the proposed solutions have the potential to be substantially more sustainable, from a life cycle perspective, than current practice, should consider both direct and indirect, both positive and adverse impacts and, where appropriate, contribute to the standardisation process. Pilot trials at an appropriate scale should be envisaged to facilitate future market uptake.

Funding scheme: SME-targeted Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project: (as appropriate, wide range expected from such a bottom up call)

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Breakthrough innovation in novel technologies, products or services with high potential to achieve a more green economy. More sustainable consumption and production patterns. Improved resource efficiency and reduced environmental impacts. Reduced waste production and pressure on raw materials. New business models, industrial symbiosis, and cradle-to-cradle approaches. Substantial contribution towards the sustainable supply of raw materials of economic importance in Europe. Improved communication and transfer of knowledge to policy making, business and to the general public.

Specific feature: This topic is mainly addressed to SMEs and industries, in appropriate partnership with research institutions and other stakeholders. Involvement of R&D performing SMEs is encouraged to ensure maximum impact. This topic contributes to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Raw Materials'.

Additional eligibility criterion: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative demonstration projects – FP7-ENV-2013two-stage

A significant gap still exists between the availability of new eco-innovative technologies, processes and services and their successful commercialisation into marketable products or services. The aim of this topic is to support the effective demonstration of existing cutting edge eco-innovative technologies, processes and services, which in spite of their high environmental and market potential have not succeeded in reaching the market. This topic targets only technologies, processes and services that can demonstrably enable radically stricter, smarter and more ambitious environmental standards (considering the integral footprint, including emissions, efficiency in use of resources, or other pressures on the environment) to be reached than those currently in place. In addition, the long-term sustainability of these eco-innovative technologies, processes and services and services should be

²⁹ http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/raw-materials/critical/index_en.htm

considered. Research should focus on demonstration activities, prior to commercialisation, such as the testing of the technological performance and economic viability of prototypes, tools, and/or management systems, benchmarking and validation activities, up-scaling from laboratory/pilot scales to large urban/rural scales, etc. Technology transfer, training activities and standardisation activities in cooperation with appropriate European standardisation bodies should be also included. Market replication³⁰ and market demonstration activities, product development and commercial development activities are excluded from this topic. Participation is open to all industrial sectors. Indicative, but not limited, fields of application of the projects are: construction and demolition waste; remediation of contaminated sites; pesticides and fertilisers in agriculture; urban mining; waste from electric and electronic equipment; climate change adaptation; and preservation of cultural heritage. Demonstration proposals related to water applications must be addressed under topic ENV.2013.WATER-1.

Funding Scheme: SME-targeted Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project: (as appropriate, wide range expected from such a bottom up call)

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: More rapid market uptake of already developed eco-innovative technologies with high potential to preserve the environment. Opportunities for new start-ups and markets in the short and medium term. Implementation of the Eco-innovation Action Plan and the Roadmap on A Resource-Efficient Europe³¹. Improved communication and transfer of knowledge to policy making, business and to the general public. Building up European citizens' awareness of eco-innovation opportunities and raising social acceptance of eco-innovative technologies and production patterns.

Specific feature: This topic is mainly addressed to SMEs and industries, in appropriate partnership with research institutions and other stakeholders. Involvement of R&D performing SMEs is encouraged to ensure maximum impact.

Additional eligibility criterion: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.3-3 Contribution to the assessment of global water resources through the use of new Earth Observation datasets and techniques – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Environmental change and human activities are exerting increasing pressure on water resources in many regions of the world. The full extent of available water is, however, difficult to estimate, even in data-rich watersheds. This requires comprehensive datasets and information products supporting efficient management and decision-making, achieved through the use of co-ordinated and sustained observations of the water cycle at multiple scales, including globally. Research under this topic should therefore test new parameters and data sources for the monitoring of global water resources, including those provided by European remote sensing missions (for example GOCE, Cryosat-2, SMOS and the EUMETSAT Polar System), seeking to improve current monitoring capabilities in terms of resolution and reliability. It should also address the quantification, quality and availability of global surface and groundwater resources, and the modelling of their evolution over time.

³⁰ http://ec.europa.eu/ecoinnovation

³¹ See footnote 3.

Finally, it should integrate the required in situ and remote-sensing data into the GEOSS Data-CORE, enable the interoperability of these data and then use them to make global datasets available to users in support of the development of a global system of systems for assessing global water resources, water scarcity and drought.

Funding Scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Increased availability of information products and services for monitoring regional and global water resources. Significant contribution to a GEOSS Water Cycle Integrator (WCI) to provide holistic views of water cycle information, through integration of observations, research, modelling and analysis. Advanced Earth Observation system for the support of international agreements on water management and European water policies. More efficient distribution of water at regional level, in particular in developing countries by building the required knowledge base and providing information on ground water, coastal zones, floods and droughts to public authorities, decision makers and citizens.

Specific feature: This research should be conducted within an international framework including non-EU partners.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects – FP7-ENV-2013-WATER

The objective of this topic is to mobilise industry, Member States and stakeholders into promoting innovative solutions for water-related challenges, leading to the effective implementation of European directives and policies while creating market opportunities for European industry and SMEs. This will be achieved through the launch of demonstration projects in areas of urban water management (for example the reduction of water consumption, improved efficiency of distribution systems and waste water treatment processes), rural water management (for example promotion of re-use of water, agricultural and natural ecosystem water use, reduction of flood risks, enhancement of the quality of water services), and industrial water management (for example the minimisation of energy and water use, closed water cycles, reduction of environmental impact of effluents, recovery of raw material from waste water). The projects will develop, test and disseminate innovative solutions, based on the integration of technological, organisational, financial, ICT and management approaches and strengthen standardisation in the water sector. Demonstration projects should preferably be of an appropriate scale to enable the bringing together of various sites across Europe, facing similar water challenges, in an integrated and coordinated way. Nevertheless, if justified in terms of scope and ambition, small scale projects could be also submitted and could be clustered later. Proposals should also demonstrate links and synergies with related major water investment/implementation projects at local, regional or national level to help leverage the demand side across the whole value chain from research to markets and strengthen complementarity with various EU funding mechanisms. Dissemination and exploitation activities, improve communication and transfer of knowledge both to policy making, business and to the general public, as well as activities aiming to increase the likelihood of market uptake of the project results should be also part of the demonstration projects.

Funding scheme: SME-targeted Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000 One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Implementation of the Europe 2020 Flagship Initiative on Innovation Union, and especially contribution to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water', to promote growth and job creation in Europe. Strong partnership between public authorities, regulators, water utilities and companies, the research community and the public, to make best use of existing instruments, and to align and pool resources in order to adopt innovative water solutions more rapidly. Achieving the objectives of water-related policy. Creation of market opportunities and increased demand for innovation leading to global leadership for the European water technology and services sectors. Projects should clearly demonstrate their capability to facilitate market uptake and their potential to stimulate demand side measures for innovation.

Specific feature: This topic is mainly addressed to SMEs and industries, in appropriate partnership with research institutions and other stakeholders. Involvement of R&D performing SMEs is encouraged to ensure maximum impact. This topic contributes to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water' and to the aims of the Commission's initiative on 'Smart Cities and Communities'.

Additional eligibility criterion: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.WATER-2 Ensuring the integration of water and innovation demonstration projects and support to trans-national networks of procurers – FP7-ENV-2013-WATER

Proposals must address one of the following two sub-topics:

a) Creation of a network to ensure an optimal coordination between the various sites of the demonstration projects selected in topic ENV.2013. WATER-1 and future Innovation Sites listed as indicative priority areas in the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water', to promote a continuous dialogue and exchange of good practices between all actors involved, improve communication and transfer of knowledge, and, finally, to identify gaps in matching demand and supply innovation measures. This network should be built on existing successful technology platforms and partnerships, bring together both the public and private water sectors, and should liaise with the secretariat of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water';

b) Promotion and development of innovation-oriented public procurements in the domain covered by the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water', with a view to enhancing the strategic use of public procurement at regional and/or local level in order to stimulate creative responses from the market, uptake of R&I results and to develop innovative public services. Public authorities (e.g. public purchasers such as national/regional/local governments and/or their agencies, public authorities responsible for R&I programmes such as research councils, R&I funding agencies) wishing to work together in developing innovative procurements (including pre-commercial) are encouraged to test innovative procurement policies.

Funding scheme: Coordination and support action (coordinating action) **The requested European contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000. Up to one proposal can be selected for each sub-topic.** **Expected impact**: Implementation of the Europe 2020 Flagship Initiative on Innovation Union, and especially contribution to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water', to promote growth and job creation in Europe. Strong partnership between public authorities, regulators, water utilities and companies, the research community and the public, to make best use of existing instruments, and to align and pool resources in order to adopt innovative water solutions more rapidly. Reduce fragmentation of public sector demand by enabling public bodies to collectively implement procurements strategies (including Pre-Commercial Procurement (PCP)) and joint actions so as to tackle problems in a more efficient way. Share risks and benefits of designing, prototyping and testing a limited number of new products and services with suppliers. Increased opportunities for wide commercialisation and uptake of R&I results.

Specific feature: This topic contributes to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Water and to the aims of the Commission's initiative on 'Smart Cities and Communities'.

Public-Private Partnership 'Energy Efficient Building Initiative'

Topic implemented in cooperation with NMP, Energy, ICT and Environment (including Climate Change) Themes.

The indicative budget of the '*Energy Efficient Buildings Initiative*' is EUR XX million in 2013, of which EUR 110 million is from the NMP Theme, EUR 40 million from the ICT Theme, EUR XX million from the Energy Theme and EUR 6 million from the Environment Theme. For further details of the implementation of the call please see the Annex 5 of the Cooperation work programme.

EeB.ENV.2013.6.3-4 Energy efficient retrofitting and renewal of existing buildings for sustainable urban districts – FP7-2013-NMP-ENV-ENERG-ICT-EeB

This topic is a contribution to the 'Energy efficient Building' (EeB) Public Private Partnership. The objective is to develop improved, easy to use tools that support cost-effective decision making through design, planning and implementation of renewal/retrofitting projects (including decisions such as demolishing vs retrofitting). These tools should particularly focus on the energy performance of buildings, the impact of district space planning and connections with networks and related installations (transport, energy, water, waste). The tools should also ensure the adoption of the most cost-optimal and affordable solutions for adapting, renewing and retrofitting groups of existing buildings that may include historic structures, fully incorporating the latest innovations and best available technologies that deliver significant energy efficiency improvements while addressing multiple resource challenges and ecosystem-based approaches, such as, for example, green roofs and walls. These solutions may cover indoor and outdoor issues, as well as social and economic concerns. Sufficient emphasis should be given to the demonstration and verification of the tools to be developed and their ability to evaluate in detail the impact potential of the solutions considered along the entire life cycle from design to decommissioning and recycling. Quantification of improvements in resource efficiency, improved health and comfort and lower greenhouse gas emissions is expected, both at the micro (projects) and macro (economy) scale, taking into account the rebound effect. Economic impacts including cost-benefit analysis and investment amortisation should also be considered, using renovation projects as case studies. Projects should specifically involve developers and public authorities whilst fostering the integration of the overall value chain involving architects, constructors, operators, financing entities, users, etc. SMEs should also be actively involved. The tools to be developed should take advantage of the use of standardised or pre-standardised metrics for sustainable buildings, including those being developed in on-going EU funded projects such as 'OpenHouse' and 'Superbuildings'.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Demonstrably improved resource efficiency of existing buildings and clear reduction in energy use, in particular, together with associated CO_2 emissions. Benefits to stakeholders across the entire value chain including SMEs, leveraging the latest innovations that incorporate technologies from a wide variety of disciplines (e.g. architecture, civil and environmental engineering, energy technologies, restoration and conservation technologies, computer science, social sciences, to name just a few). Guidance to local community

development agencies, developers, SMEs as suppliers and users of technologies, etc. Civil society organisations are welcome when appropriate. Support for the implementation of the Directive on the Energy performance of buildings and the Roadmap to a Resource-Efficient Europe. Contribution to the aims of the Commission's initiative on 'Smart Cities and Communities'.

Additional eligibility criteria: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

Challenge 6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards

Indicative budget: EUR 36 million

Novel global approaches to protect citizens' health from emerging environmental risks will be explored. In particular research will enhance a comprehensive understanding of — and comparable data on — population exposures in Europe, by combining large-scale exposure data with population health data from a pilot European Exposure and Health Examination Survey ³². In the field of electromagnetic frequencies, independent and more robust exposure assessment and health impact studies have to be deployed in order to respond to the rapid growth of new information and communication technologies. In the field of natural hazards, recent disasters in Japan, Asia and Europe require from research and innovation to explore more thoroughly ways and means to better learn how to prepare, prevent, monitor, forecast, warn, defend and react in view of similar events. This will contribute to more reliable and precise tsunami early warning systems, to sound methodologies for implementing stress tests for main infrastructures and to new means for defending coastal areas and populations from multiple hazards (including coastal and flash floods).

ENV.2013.6.4-1 Assessing individual exposure to environmental stressors and predicting health outcomes: paving the way for an EU-wide assessment – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

The majority of major chronic human diseases are likely to result from the combination of environmental exposures to chemical and physical stressors and human genetics; however, the environmental determinants are poorly understood in comparison to the genetic factors. Thus, new approaches relying on the concept of the individual exposome, representing all environmental contributors to disease received by an individual during a lifetime, are needed to better understand the underlying mechanisms of environment-health/disease associations. The aim of the research is to collect new harmonised and standardised large-scale exposure data from European populations to improve the quality and comparability of the input data across countries, with attempts to link individual and population-based exposure data to health data. The latter could consist of data available in health registries or new data that could be collected together with exposure data, e.g. through a pilot European Exposure and Health Examination Survey. Individual exposomes should be characterised by utilising existing biomarkers, and by developing biomarkers of exposure and effect based on epigenetics or other approaches. Strategies to improve the bioinformatics tools to handle the large amounts of data generated should also be considered.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 12 000 000. Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Better and innovative European preventive strategies by improving assessment of individual exposures. Reduction of fragmentation of exposure data across the EU and contribution to harmonisation and comparability of data. Improved EU risk assessment and management activities in the area of Environment and Health, especially as

 $^{^{32}\,}http://ec.europa.eu/health/data_collection/tools/mechanisms/index_en.htm#fragment1$

regards chemicals. Combining exposure and health assessment in an EU-wide study. Integration of the research and innovation dimension by development of innovative approaches to assess exposure-health relationships in an integrated manner. Development of the European Research Area.

ENV.2013.6.4-2 Closing gaps of knowledge and reducing exposure to electromagnetic fields (EMF) – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

As previous studies have been inconclusive as regards possible health effects of exposure to EMFs, further research should be carried out to better understand the possible mechanisms generating biological effects through the use of novel approaches, as well as to collect and improve exposure and health risk assessment of EMFs, and also to underpin policy development. A large-scale prospective population study – that could reach beyond the EU – could be envisaged to investigate, *inter alia*, the role of radiofrequency (RF) exposures in cancer risk, neurodegenerative diseases, reproductive problems, behaviour and ageing, and exposure and health effects from intermediate frequency (IF) fields. More data on cumulative personal exposures from various sources should be collected. The research should also propose non technological means to reduce exposure.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Support to EU and national regulatory bodies and policies by improving reliability of research data on potential effects of EMF exposures. Contribution to EU risk assessment and management activities through an improved evaluation of cumulative and integrated personal exposure. Application of novel approaches (e.g. systems biology) to EMF health research. Underpinning of non-technological means to reduce exposures.

ENV.2013.6.4-3 Coasts at threat in Europe: tsunamis and climate-related risks – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Recent climate-related and tsunami catastrophic events have highlighted the increased exposure and vulnerability of societies in coastal areas. Research should strongly enhance today's forecasting, prediction and early warning capabilities in order to improve the assessment of coastal vulnerability and risks and develop adequate prevention, mitigation and preparedness measures. The knowledge gathered and lessons learned from recent dramatic events (e.g. Great East Japan Tsunami, Xynthia storm in France, Liguria flash floods), as well as from past and on-going EU research, should be used in order to design and develop management approaches to minimise social and economic losses and environmental impacts and increase resilience to such events. Synergies with the collaborative research action on 'coastal vulnerability' announced in the first call of the International Opportunities Fund by the Belmont Forum³³ need to be considered.

Proposals should either address tsunamis or extreme hydro-meteorological events (e.g. extreme winds, storm surges, coastal and estuarine floods — taking in consideration the effects of climate change) and should focus on the respective key research challenges. Research should focus on Europe, but international cooperation with any third countries experiencing the same type of threats and willing to share know-how is encouraged. Innovative, cost-effective, technological or non-technological solutions as well as ecosystem-

³³ www.belmontforum.org/iof

based approaches should be explored. Organisational and institutional/governance aspects have to be considered as well.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Faster attainment of the disaster risk reduction goals of UNISDR (United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction). Design of cost-effective risk-reduction plans, based on the proposed tools and solutions. Improved risk governance and preparedness through the provision of timely information and warnings to decision-makers.

Specific feature: Projects should consider attributing a specific budget to clustering activities with projects on related issues selected in this call and with those selected by the Belmont Forum call on coastal vulnerability.

ENV.2013.6.4-4 Towards stress tests for critical infrastructures against natural hazards – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Rare low frequency high consequence natural hazards events can have catastrophic impacts on critical infrastructures and trigger cascading effects. Climate change, population dynamics, urbanisation and other global change factors affect the damage potential. Research should capitalise on knowledge acquired so far in various sectors having already developed stress test methodologies and from the lessons learned after Fukushima and adapt it for critical (non nuclear) infrastructure types that may be threatened by key natural hazards in Europe.

Investigations therefore need to address the definition, harmonisation and development of standards, critical parameters and methodologies for hazard and risk assessment for low-probability, high consequence events in Europe that could be applied in future stress tests. Issues like full exploration of uncertainties, expert judgement, site-specific versus regional assessment of hazards, multiple risks, time-dependent vulnerability, possible degradation, cascade effects and the interactive environmental and societal changes have to be considered as well. Test applications should illustrate the benefits of improved hazard and risk assessment for key critical sites in Europe.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.

One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: Reinforced European safety assessment capacity. Improved and more reliable stress tests of critical infrastructures. Support for decision making and prioritisation in the field of mitigation options and support to preparedness. Better surveillance capacity.

Specific feature: Projects selected under this topic will be linked through a coordination mechanism that will be defined during the negotiation stage. Coordination with related actions under the EURATOM programme and the Security Theme³⁴ will also be established. Costs of this coordination will be covered by project resources.

³⁴ See work programme Security- topic SEC-2012.2.1-2 Impact of extreme weather on critical infrastructurecapability project.

<u>Challenge 6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy,</u> <u>industry and society</u>

Indicative budget: EUR 30 million (of which EUR 4 million for the FP7-ERANET-2013 call)

Activities within this challenge aim to stimulate innovative approaches and tools to facilitate knowledge transfer, and uptake and exploitation of research data and results by policy makers, enterprises and society at large. In the post Rio+20 context, activities will focus on analysing the policy and socio-economic implications of climate agreements, taking stock of sustainable development indicators and support tools, identifying pragmatic solutions and best practices for policy makers in the EU and beyond, while also enabling the development of sustainable solutions and models for businesses. Networking and clustering of projects and research players will further the uptake of research results and promote sustainable R&I co-operation with Latin America, ASEAN and the Neighbourhood Policy countries. Furthermore, environmental knowledge will be harnessed to support EU policies in areas of societal interest such as disaster risk reduction, raw materials, resource efficiency and air quality, as well as in the Danube region. Foresight will aim to provide insight into the medium and long term trends and prospects of research and innovation, policy developments and market potential of new technologies in the areas of climate, resource efficiency and raw materials under Horizon 2020. In order to promote sustainable economic development both in the EU and in third countries, attention will be paid to sharing and exploiting knowledge from many varied sources, in particular the EU programme on Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES), the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) and the GEOSS DataCore. To support the European Research Area in this field, an ERA-NET Plus will be launched on cultural heritage.

ENV.2013.6.5-1 Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy – FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage

The Green Economy is a vehicle to deliver sustainable development. It offers win-win opportunities to all countries regardless of the structure of their economy or their level of development. It builds on resource efficiency and its progress needs to be monitored. The exchange of best practice between all stakeholders needs to be encouraged at global level. Proposals should address one of the following three sub-topics to facilitate the acceleration towards a Green Economy in a global context:

a) Measuring progress: stocktaking

Many initiatives were launched to create indicators and various support tools aimed at quantifying the environmental and the economic impacts of human activities. Research should take stock of the work carried out globally in the field of sustainable development indicators, including those that can complement or replace GDP, and in the field of support tools such as those focusing on physical aspects, like energy throughput, life cycle and ecosystem assessments, and those integrating the economic dimension, like input-output databases. An assessment of on-going activities in this field and their outcomes should be carried out including identifying pragmatic solutions for Europe, and providing readily usable tools for policy makers. Potential research gaps should be identified and suggestions offered on how to overcome them.

b) Best practices and lessons learnt in the field of eco-innovation

The objective of this action is to develop a suitable structure and web-environment tool for the exchange of relevant experiences, developments, best practices and research outputs from programmes and projects in support or leading to eco-innovation. The tool should address both technological and non-technological innovation, built around relevant cases of successful and unsuccessful eco-innovation obtained from a variety of societal parties and actors, and provide a basis for further analysis and assessment of processes resulting in incremental or disruptive innovation for sustainability, success factors and remaining barriers. Participation of policy makers and SMEs is strongly encouraged, with the aim of acquiring a one-system approach which caters for various target groups, thereby encouraging cross-sectoral information exchange and information spill-overs. For maximum benefit, impact, and efficiency, substantive linkages and cooperation should be sought with relevant European networks including Eco-Innovera and EcoPol, as well as with the Eco-Innovation Observatory.

c) Business practices for promoting 'Green Economy' and sustainable production and consumption post Rio+20

There is a need to stimulate the post RIO+20 dialogues between the private sector and the research community on issues related to 'Green Economy'. The objective is to create a thematic knowledge base that would feed the discussion on sustainable consumption and production at international level as a contribution to the global green economy research agenda. Activities should focus on developing and supporting a network for global exchange of best practices between EU and non-EU actors involved in sustainable consumption and production. It should encourage cross-sectoral and multi-stakeholder research to develop sustainable business solutions and business models. Models, tools, instruments and practices identified will address the optimal mix of the following issues: resource management, job creation, social inclusion, governance and environmental footprints along the value chain and will look at their replicability and scaling up in different sectors and contexts, including beyond the EU borders.

Funding scheme: Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action)

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected per sub-topic.

Expected impact: Faster transition to a green European economy with positive impacts on the rest of the world. Tangible, enhanced and innovative implementation of the Flagship Initiatives on the Innovation Union, the EC Communication on a 'Roadmap to a Resource-Efficient Europe', the Eco-innovation Action Plan as well as the EU Strategy for Sustainable Development. Evidence based identification by policymakers of the most adequate indicators and support tools that can be directly and easily used. Reinforced dialogue at international level. Reinforced governance tool to speed up the transition towards more sustainable business options. Demonstrated contribution to job creation within a sustainable development context. Better dissemination of eco-innovation best practices and stronger policy guidance to support measures for eco-innovation uptake. Improved networking between policy makers, SMEs and eco-innovators. Civil society organisations are welcome. Recognition of the benefits of eco-innovation by the business community. Improved communication and transfer of knowledge to policy making, business and to the general public.

ENV.2013.6.5-2 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society – FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage

Innovative approaches and tools are needed for policy makers to facilitate the proper consideration and uptake of available scientific knowledge in key areas in policy making.

Proposals should be innovative and address one of the following six key sub-topics to facilitate improved knowledge transfer and uptake, provide appropriate tools and models to manage information and data for policy makers both within Europe and globally, and raise awareness of natural resources, including raw materials:

a) Policy and economic implications of the post-2012 climate agreements

The action will contribute to a better understanding of the key policy and socio-economic implications of post-2012 climate agreements at the global level, as well as the specific benefits, costs and opportunities that this will entail for Europe. Key issues to be addressed may include: effectiveness of the new international regime in delivering the required mitigation objectives; projected socio-economic impacts; the role of low-carbon technology development and transfer; relationship between climate change and land-use trends; trends in energy prices. The analysis will also take into due consideration mitigation and adaption requirements in both developing countries and emerging economies.

b) Improved science-based policy decision making in disaster risk reduction

Various barriers (e.g. legal/institutional, political, cultural, historical, socio-economic) hamper the proper consideration of available scientific knowledge in decision making related to disaster risk reduction. Moreover, this is framed in an evolving situation where climaterelated extreme events are growing and are expected to grow more in the future (see IPCC SREX report). There is a need for a better understanding of how risk-based decision mechanisms work, how information/knowledge is used, who are the actors involved, how information flow gaps are manageable in various socio-economic conditions and hazard levels. The management of uncertainty (and of cascades of uncertain events), and its impact on decision-making, have to be developed. A collaborative dialogue among stakeholders, policy makers, practitioners and scientists from different disciplines should enable mapping of relevant processes, identifying barriers, and proposing corrective methodologies and good practices for communication and knowledge transfer at different levels. The project should aim to explore ways to strengthen linkages and communication between disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation communities.

c) Empowering international economic development through the use of environmental earth observations

The action will explore opportunities for economic development, in particular in developing countries, empowered by integrating and exploiting economic development initiatives and environmental earth observations. Work should identify the key international economic development processes that require environmental information and identify mechanisms to develop them in a sustainable fashion. Capacity building within local communities and local authorities should be addressed, enabling them to collaborate with international development programmes, use environmental Earth Observation information and products, and engage resource providers such as donors and the financial sector. The action should also look to catalyse the marketing and exploitation of Earth Observation applications for the creation of new innovative products and support services.

d) Raising societal awareness and tackling skill shortages on raw materials

The objective of this action is to support activities in order to mobilise the participation of civil society and industry, including SMEs, in a dialogue on raw materials and resource efficiency; to launch public debate and raise awareness of the opportunities and strengths related to the efficient use of raw materials; to raise the societal acceptance of their substitution, replacement and recycling; and to help universities and industries, as well as geological surveys, tackle the problem of skill shortages in the European mining sector and green technologies for raw materials processing.

e) Implications of socio-economic research on air pollution policy

The objective of this action is to analyse the socio-economic aspects associated to national, regional and EU wide air pollution policy and to explore ways to better integrate the socioeconomic dimension in those policies, in particular with respect to preferences, behaviour and responses of individuals and stakeholder groups (including civil society). Factors influencing the uptake by citizens of individual-level measures to improve air quality should be considered. This action will deliver regular specific reports in support to the on-going revision of the EU Air policy and links should will established with the EU funded coordinated action in the field of 'Integrated assessment of Air Pollution'.

f) Designing environmental research and innovation for solutions and uptake of results in the Danube macro region

The EU Strategy for the Danube region foresees that science and technology are a major driving force for the development of a knowledge based economy in this area. This project will explore and identify instruments and tools for enhancing research and innovation cooperation for the environment in this region at a more integrated and strategic level as well as for the exploitation of results by society and the economy, including policy makers. Synergies will be sought with projects funded by other EU instruments (e.g. Structural Funds) as well as by national or private sources. The project will identify future research and innovation needs and the ways and means to achieve responses. EU and nationally funded research and innovation projects related to the environment with high added value and relevance to the Danube region will be identified and clustered. Priority will be given to consortia which can ensure contacts with and sufficient commitment from national authorities or major research institutes in the region.

Funding scheme: Coordination and support action (coordinating action)

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.

Up to one proposal can be selected per sub-topic.

Expected impact:

a) Enhanced implementation of the 'Climate and Energy package (20/20/20 targets)' and the Roadmap for moving to a competitive low-carbon economy in 2050. Strengthened EU climate policy informed by forward-looking analysis and better understanding of consequences of different policies and climate regimes on economic sectors and European society as a whole. Increased stakeholders' understanding of the consequences of international climate regime and EU climate policies for European citizens, as well as enhanced awareness and public acceptance.

b) Overcome barriers in decision making and risk communication through innovative means; reconciliation of users' demands and knowledge supply; timely contribution to EU policy development.

c) Highly visible and effective capacity building efforts in the field of Earth Observation within local communities and authorities. Demonstrable economic development through the integration and exploitation of economic development initiatives and environmental earth observations. The quantifiable engagement of resource providers, (e.g., donors, the financial sector, etc.). The creation of new and innovative products through the use of environmental earth observations.

d) Improve the conditions for a favourable framework for the development of raw materials in Europe. Contribution to the aims of the proposed European Innovation Partnership on 'Raw Materials'.

e) Better understanding of how new policies can be developed that have better acceptance by key stakeholder groups difficult to target with today's policy tools.

f) Mobilisation of all actors and resources from public (national or EU) and private sources for higher investment in research and innovation towards an efficient river-delta-coast-sea management in the Danube/Danube Delta/Black Sea region.

ENV.2013.6.5-3 Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the use of environmental data and information – FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage

Opening up public sector data and information for re-use has a significant and currently untapped potential to act as an engine for innovation, growth and transparent governance. Exploiting Europe's Open Data Strategy can contribute to: decision-making in policy areas; fostering the participation of citizens in environmental governance; and generating new innovative products and services, which can lead to new businesses, jobs and growth.

Using open, readily accessible and freely available Earth Observation data and information, projects should enable wide access to scientific data to allow researchers in different domains to collaborate on the same data sets, to ensure seamless interoperability of data catalogues, to engage in entirely new forms of scientific research and to explore correlations between research results; then using models, innovative environmental tools and information products, based on accepted standards, deliver benefits to researchers, European end-user agencies, the industrial sector, policy makers, and citizens, across environmental knowledge domains.

Attention should be focussed on sharing and exploiting data and information from many varied sources, including in particular; open public sector data portals, the programme on Global Monitoring for Environment and Security (GMES), the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) and especially the GEOSS Data-CORE.

Relevant European Strategies and Policies: EU 2020 Strategy; Digital Agenda for Europe – Open Data Strategy; INSPIRE; CIP to stimulate the emergence of new business.

Funding scheme: Collaborative Project

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000. One or more proposals can be selected.

Expected impact: The creation of opportunities in global markets, new businesses, jobs and growth, through the delivery of a wide range of innovative products and services; better evidence-based policy making and administrative efficiency at all levels of government, resulting in improved public services, e.g. the provision of information to address crisis situations and disasters with cross-boundary impact; greater transparency in public administration through the improved visibility of information, informing citizens and business about policies, public spending and outcomes; empowering citizens and citizens' associations, enabling them to contribute to environmental governance processes in the domains of transparency, knowledge management, accountability and responsiveness.

Additional eligibility criterion: Proposals will only be selected for funding if the estimated EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total requested EU contribution for the whole project. This will be re-assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

ENV.2013.6.5-4 Knowledge platforms, networking and uptake of research results for more strategic international R&I cooperation – FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage

The objectives are to establish sustainable research and innovation cooperation between main EU and third country actors and to enhance uptake of research results on subjects of mutual

interest in the areas of climate action, resource efficiency and raw materials, as described in the Commission proposal for Horizon 2020. Targeted regions are:

- a) Latin America,
- b) ASEAN,
- c) the Mediterranean and the Black Sea,
- d) the North Atlantic.

Each proposal should address one targeted region only. EU funded projects with high added value and relevance to the regional needs will be identified and clustered. Clusters will bring together, through bilateral or bi-regional meetings, EU and third country researchers and other relevant stakeholders, aiming at the identification of tools and instruments for enhancing cooperation at a more strategic level and exploitation of results, including twinning of projects. The level of maturity of R&I relations with the EU, as well as cultural, political and administrative differences affecting international R&I cooperation with respective regions should be taken into account. Synergies will be sought with projects funded by other EU instruments (external cooperation) or other parts of the Framework Programme (International Cooperation Activities in the Capacities Programme) and the consortium should build on their reports and recommendations. Consortia should include a sufficient number of eligible ICPC country partners or other international partners from the target regions to ensure adequate scale and scope of cooperation. Priority will be given to consortia which can ensure contacts with and sufficient additional financial commitment from research-related regional structures and/or national authorities or major research institutes in the region.

The final product will be concrete proposals for upgrading the joint research and innovation agenda at more strategic levels and linking major EU projects or clusters of them with projects/networks in the countries of the region and the potential users, such as policymakers and industry. It will also identify potential sources of funding (national, EU, international) other than FP7.

Funding scheme: Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action)

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.

Up to one proposal per region can be selected.

Expected impact: More strategic, integrated and sustainable research and innovation collaboration in the field of climate change, resource efficiency and raw materials between the EU and third countries from Latin America, ASEAN, the Mediterranean and the Black Sea, and the North Atlantic, by bringing the scientific communities and programmes closer to each other around specific challenges, linking their efforts and exploiting research results. Stimulation of future integrated and strategic cooperation activities, mobilisation of financial means from various sources and enhanced uptake and use of research and research results for meeting societal challenges in bi-regional and bilateral mutual priorities.

ENV.2013.6.5-5 Network for forward looking activities and assessment of research and innovation prospects – FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage

The aim is to establish a research and innovation policy support network of research institutes and other organisations including stakeholder organisations that may include think tanks, professional and industrial associations and policy analysts, as appropriate. The network will collect strategic information about medium and long term research and innovation trends and prospects, and will carry out forward looking analysis in the areas of climate, resource efficiency and raw materials as described in the Commission proposal for Horizon 2020. It will analyse technology, policy and market developments as well as policies and programmes of major EU and third country research and innovation actors. In addition, the network will develop, propose and monitor indicators for assessing the impact (in terms of policy, economy, society, sustainability) of EU R&I cooperation both within the EU and with some selected third countries in the field of climate, resource efficiency and raw materials. It will develop a scoreboard of the implementation of European Research Area (ERA) in the specific area and its links with the Innovation Union strategy. It will produce regular quantitative and qualitative briefings with information, trends and strategic options for R&I addressed to EU research managers and policy makers on specific issues. Partners with experience in forward looking, horizon scanning, forecasting and in research policy impact assessment will be important assets for the consortium.

Funding scheme: Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action)

The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.

Expected duration: 5 years

Up to one proposal can be selected.

Expected impact: Improved quality of R&I policies and programmes through substantiated evidence and trends. Improved impact of EU research and innovation on societies, policies and markets through advanced assessment of needs and developments. Improved European competitiveness and political leadership by early reaction to emerging trends, issues and opportunities.

ENV.2013.6.5-6 Research and innovation for Cultural Heritage

The main aim of this ERA-NET Plus is to pool the necessary financial resources from the participating national (or regional) research programmes and the European Union with a view to implement a single joint call for proposals for research projects in the Cultural Heritage field that will be evaluated and managed jointly by the participating programmes. The joint call should clearly focus on an interdisciplinary approach to cultural heritage research – mainly tangible, but also interlinked with or addressing digital and intangible heritage — and on the synergies derived from cooperation at a transnational level. The topics related to the joint call should be commensurate to the available funds to ensure a reasonable success rate. Details of topics covered by the call will be decided by the participants in due time but shall be finalised in consultation with the Commission Services concerned. This ERA-NET Plus is aimed to improve the coordination of national research activities and policies in the domain of cultural heritage research. The EC contribution to the joint call budget serves as an incentive to achieve critical mass and a higher degree of integration. The overall subject of the call must be of major interest and ensure significant added value at European level.

Funding scheme: Coordination and support action (ERA-NET Plus).

The total EU contribution for this ERA-NET Plus action is limited to a maximum of 33 % of the total of cumulative joint call budget, up to a limit of EUR 4 million for the EU contribution. Complete and detailed information on funding scheme, special eligibility criteria and expected impact for ERA-NET Plus actions can be found in Annex IV of the cooperation work programme.

Up to one proposal can be selected

Expected impact: Better use of scarce resources and the avoidance of double funding/overlap. Increase quality of research and synergies obtained at European, national and regional level and reduce fragmentation of research efforts.

Special features: A single joint call should be implemented with a clear prior financial commitment from the participants. Eligible participants are programme owners or programme managers that contribute to the call budget. A minimum of 5 participants from 5 different Member or Associated States providing funding is required. The minimum total budget of the joint call is EUR 5 million. Each project retained for funding should be transnational (i.e. with

minimum 2 partners from different countries). Coordination experience between national programmes is a necessary prerequisite.

III IMPLEMENTATION OF CALLS

For description of the topics of the calls, please refer to section II 'Content of calls'

Call title: ENVIRONMENT 2013: TWO-STAGE

- Call identifier: FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage
- **Date of publication**: 10 July 2012³⁵
- **Deadline**: First stage: 16 October 2012³⁶ at 17.00.00, Brussels local time
- **Indicative budget**³⁷: EUR 248 million

Table 1. Indicative budget breakdown by challenge/activity:

Challenge/activity	Indicative budget (EUR million)
6.1 Coping with climate change	80
6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas	73
6.3 Improving resource efficiency	49
6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards	36
6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society	10

The budget for this call is indicative. The final budget awarded to actions implemented through calls for proposals may vary:

- The final budget of the call may vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for each call; and
- Any repartition of the call budget may also vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for the call.

³⁵ The Director-General responsible for the call may publish it up to one month prior to or after the envisaged date of publication.

³⁶ The Director-General responsible may delay this deadline by up to two months.

³⁷ Under the condition that the draft budget for 2013 is adopted without modification by the budgetary authority.

Challenge	Topics called	Funding Schemes
		and eligibility criteria
Challenge 6.1 Coping with climate change	ENV.2013. 6.1-1 Climate-related ocean processes and combined impacts of multiple stressors on the marine environment One or more proposals can be	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	selected.	
	ENV.2013.6.1-2 Atmospheric processes, eco-systems and climate change One or more proposals can be selected	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.1-3 Impacts of higher- end scenarios (global average warming > 2 °C with respect to pre- industrial level) One or more proposals can be	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	selected.	<i>•</i>
	ENV.2013.6.1-4 Land cover and land-use change and climate change mitigation One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.1-5 Quantification of consumption-based emissions of greenhouse gases and assessment of policy options Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.1-6 Economics of	Collaborative Project
	adaptation to climate change Up to one proposal can be selected.	The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.
Challenge 6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas	ENV.2013.6.2-1 Water resources management under complex, multi- stressor conditions One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.2-2 Toxicants, environmental pollutants and land and water resources management Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 12 000 000 Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going

• Topics called for the FP7-ENV-2013-two-stage-call:

	total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
ENV.2013.6.2-3 Transition to sustainable, low-carbon societies One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.
ENV.2013.6.2-4 Sustainable land care in Europe One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
ENV.2013.6.2-5 Urban biodiversity and green infrastructure Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.
	Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
ENV.2013.6.2-6 Improved monitoring of the impact of cultivation on the environment using global earth observations Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.
	Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will

		not be funded.
	ENV.2013.6.2-7 Development of advanced technologies and tools for mapping, diagnosing, protecting and managing cultural landscapes in rural areas	SME-targeted Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.
	Up to one proposal can be selected.	Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 20 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
	ENV.2013.6.2-8 Sustainable	Collaborative Project
	management of Europe's deep sea and sub-sea floor resources Up to one proposal can be selected.	<i>The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000.</i>
		Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
Challenge 6.3 Improving	<i>ENV.2013.6.3-1 Turning waste into a resource through innovative</i>	SME-targeted Collaborative Project
resource efficiency	technologies, processes and services One or more proposals can be selected.	The requested EU contribution per project: (as appropriate, wide range expected from such a bottom up call).
		Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
	<i>ENV.2013.6.3-2 Eco-innovative</i> <i>demonstration projects</i>	SME-targeted Collaborative Project
	One or more proposals can be selected.	The requested EU contribution per project: (as appropriate, wide range expected from such a bottom up call).

		Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
	ENV.2013.6.3-3 Contribution to the assessment of global water resources through the use of new Earth Observation datasets and techniques Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 9 000 000. Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
Challenge 6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards	ENV.2013.6.4-1 Assessing individual exposure to environmental stressors and predicting health outcomes: paving the way for an EU-wide assessment Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 12 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.4-2 Closing gaps of knowledge and reducing exposure to electromagnetic fields (EMF) Up to one proposal can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.4-3 Coasts at threat in Europe: tsunamis and climate- related risks One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.4-4 Towards stress test for critical infrastructures against natural hazards One or more proposals can be selected.	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000.

Challenge 6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society	ENV.2013.6.5-3 Exploiting the European Open Data Strategy to mobilise the use of environmental data and information	Collaborative Project The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 6 000 000.
	One or more proposals can be selected.	Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

• Eligibility conditions:

- The general eligibility criteria are set out in Annex 2 of this work programme, and in the guide for applicants. Please note that the completeness criterion also includes that part B of the proposal shall be readable, accessible and printable.
- Table of standard minimum number of participating legal entities for all funding schemes used in the call, in line with the Rules for Participation and in the below format:

Funding scheme	Minimum conditions
Collaborative Project/SME-targeted	At least 3 independent legal entities, each of
Collaborative Project	which is established in a MS or AC, and no 2
	of which are established in the same MS or
	AC

- The eligibility criteria apply to both first and second stage proposals. At stage 1, only information provided in part A of the proposal will be used to determine whether the proposal is eligible with respect to budget thresholds, while part B will be used to check the number of eligible participants. At stage 2, part A will be used alone to determine these eligibility conditions.

The following additional eligibility conditions apply in this call:

- It is important to note that the upper limits for requested EU contribution given per topic will be applied as an additional eligibility criterion and those proposals which do not respect these limits will be considered as ineligible.
- At stage 2, for topics ENV.2013.6.2-2, ENV.2013.6.2-4, ENV.2013.6.2-5, ENV.2013.6.2-6, ENV.2013.6.2-8, and ENV.2013.6.3-3 the following additional eligibility criterion will be applied: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 15 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

- At stage 2, for topic ENV.2013.6.2-7, the following additional eligibility criterion will be applied: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 20 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.
- At stage 2, for topics ENV.2013.6.3-1, ENV.2013.6.3-2 and ENV.2013.6.5-3 the following additional eligibility criterion will be applied: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

• Evaluation procedure:

- The evaluation criteria and scoring scheme are set out in annex 2 of the work programme.
- Proposal page limits: Applicants must ensure that proposals conform to the page limits and layout given in the Guide for Applicants, and in the proposal part B template available through the EPSS.

The Commission will instruct the experts to disregard any pages exceeding these limits.

The minimum font size allowed is 11 points. The page size is A4, and all margins (top, bottom, left, right) should be at least 15 mm (not including any footers or headers).

- A two-stage submission and evaluation procedure will be used.
- Experts will carry out the individual evaluation of proposals remotely.
- The procedure for prioritising proposals with equal scores is described in annex 2 of the Cooperation work programme.
- A ranked list will be drawn up for each indicative budget shown in the call fiche.

Additional information regarding evaluation criteria and procedures:

- Stage 1 proposals shall be submitted by the closure date mentioned above 16/10/2012 at 17:00.00, Brussels, local time. For successful stage 1 proposals, coordinators will receive an invitation to submit their full proposal instead of an *Evaluation Summary Report*. The closure date of the stage 2 submission will be specified in the invitation to submit the complete proposal. The indicative closure date for stage 2 is 28/02/2013 at 17:00.00, Brussels, local time.
- Stage 1 proposals are evaluated on the basis of their **S/T quality** and **Impact**. For each criterion marks from 0 to 5 will be given, with the possibility of 0.5 point scores. Successful proposals must pass the minimum thresholds as follows:

INTERNAL DOCUMENT - DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2013 ENVIRONMENT RESEARCH

STAGE 1	Minimum threshold
S/T quality	4/5
Impact	3/5
Overall threshold	8/10

- Only proposals that will pass all thresholds will be invited to present a full proposal for Stage 2.
- Stage 2 proposals are evaluated on the basis of the following three criteria: **1.** S/T **quality; 2. Implementation; 3. Impact.** For each criterion marks from 0 to 5 will be given, with the possibility of 0.5 point scores. Successful proposals must pass the minimum thresholds as follows:

STAGE 2	Minimum threshold
S/T quality	4/5
Implementation	3/5
Impact	3/5
Overall threshold	11/15

- **Indicative timetable**: The stage 1 evaluation should be finalised in mid December 2012. The evaluation of the stage 2 is expected to take place in March/April 2013. Overall evaluations results are estimated to be available within 3 months after the closure date for stage 2 proposals. It is expected that grant agreement negotiations for short-listed proposals will begin in May/June 2013.
- **Consortia agreements** In line with the Rules for Participation and the Model Grant Agreement, participants in Collaborative Projects are required to conclude a consortium agreement prior to grant agreement.
- The forms of grants and maximum reimbursement rates which will be offered are specified in Annex 3 to the Cooperation work programme.
- Flat rates to cover subsistence costs: In accordance with Annex 3 of this work programme, this call provides for the possibility to use flat rates to cover subsistence costs incurred by beneficiaries during travel carried out within grants for indirect actions. For further information, see the relevant Guides for Applicants for this call. The applicable flat available the Participant Portal rates are on at: https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/page/fp7 documents under 'Guidance documents for FP7/Financial issues/Flat rates for daily allowances'.
- **Dissemination:** Grant agreements of projects financed under this call for proposals will include the special clause 39 on the 'Open access pilot in FP7'. This includes the obligation on beneficiaries to ensure free access to peer-reviewed articles resulting from projects via an institutional or subject-based repository.

Call title: ENVIRONMENT 2013: ONE-STAGE

- Call identifier: FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage
- **Date of publication**: 10 July 2012³⁸
- **Deadline**: 16 October 2012³⁹ at 17.00.00, Brussels local time
- **Indicative budget**⁴⁰: EUR 16 million

Table 1. Indicative budget breakdown by challenge/activity:

Challenge/activity		Indicative budget (EUR million)
6.1 Coping with climate change		n/a
6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas		n/a
6.3 Improving resource efficiency		n/a
6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards		n/a
6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, inc	dustry and society	16

The budget for this call is indicative. The final budget awarded to actions implemented through calls for proposals may vary:

- The final budget of the call may vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for each call; and
- Any repartition of the call budget may also vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for the call.
- Topics called for the FP7-ENV-2013-one-stage-call:

³⁸ The Director-General responsible for the call may publish it up to one month prior to or after the envisaged date of publication.

³⁹ The Director-General responsible may delay this deadline by up to two months.

⁴⁰ Under the condition that the draft budget for 2013 is adopted without modification by the budgetary authority.

Challenge	Topics called	Funding Schemes
		and eligibility criteria
Challenge 6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, industry and society	ENV.2013.6.5-1 Accelerating progress towards the Green Economy Up to one proposal can be selected per sub-topic.	Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action) The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.5-2 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy and society Up to one proposal can be selected per sub-topic.	Coordination and support action (coordinating action). The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.5-4 Knowledge platforms, networking and uptake of research results for strengthened international R&I cooperation Up to one proposal can be selected per region.	Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action) The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.
	ENV.2013.6.5-5 Network for forward looking activities and assessment of research and innovation prospects Up to one proposal can be selected.	Coordination and Support Action (coordinating action) The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 3 000 000. Expected duration: 5 years.

• Eligibility conditions:

- The general eligibility criteria are set out in Annex 2 of this work programme, and in the guide for applicants. Please note that the completeness criterion also includes that part B of the proposal shall be readable, accessible and printable.
- Table of standard minimum number of participating legal entities for all funding schemes used in the call, in line with the Rules for Participation and in the below format:

Funding scheme	Minimum conditions
(coordinating action)	At least 3 independent legal entities, each of which is established in a MS or AC, and no 2 of which are established in the same MS or
	AC

- Only information provided in part A of the proposal will be used to determine whether the proposal is eligible with respect to budget thresholds and/or minimum number of eligible participants.

The following additional eligibility conditions apply in this call:

- It is important to note that the upper limits for requested EU contribution given per topic will be applied as an additional eligibility criterion and those proposals which do not respect these limits will be considered as ineligible.

• Evaluation procedure:

- The evaluation criteria and scoring scheme are set out in annex 2 of the work programme.
- Proposal page limits: Applicants must ensure that proposals conform to the page limits and layout given in the Guide for Applicants, and in the proposal part B template available through the EPSS.

The Commission will instruct the experts to disregard any pages exceeding these limits.

The minimum font size allowed is 11 points. The page size is A4, and all margins (top, bottom, left, right) should be at least 15 mm (not including any footers or headers).

- Experts will carry out the individual evaluation of proposals remotely.
- The procedure for prioritising proposals with equal scores is described in annex 2 of the Cooperation work programme.
- A ranked list will be drawn up for each indicative budget shown in the call fiche.
- The evaluation shall follow a one stage evaluation procedure. Proposals are evaluated on the basis of the following three criteria: 1. S/T quality; 2. Implementation; 3. Impact. For each criterion marks from 0 to 5 will be given, with the possibility of 0.5 point scores. Successful proposals must pass the minimum thresholds as follows:

	Minimum threshold
S/T quality	3/5
Implementation	3/5
Impact	3/5
Overall threshold	10/15

- **Indicative timetable**: Evaluations are expected to be carried out during the months of November and December 2012. It is expected that the grant agreement negotiations for short-listed proposals will begin in January 2013.
- **Consortia agreements** In line with the Rules for Participation and the Model Grant Agreement, participants in Collaborative Projects are required to conclude a consortium agreement prior to grant agreement.
- The forms of grants and maximum reimbursement rates which will be offered are specified in Annex 3 to the Cooperation work programme.

- Flat rates to cover subsistence costs: In accordance with Annex 3 of this work programme, this call provides for the possibility to use flat rates to cover subsistence costs incurred by beneficiaries during travel carried out within grants for indirect actions. For further information, see the relevant Guides for Applicants for this call. The applicable flat available the Participant Portal rates are on at: https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/page/fp7_documents under 'Guidance documents for FP7/Financial issues/Flat rates for daily allowances'.
- **Dissemination:** Grant agreements of projects financed under this call for proposals will include the special clause 39 on the 'Open access pilot in FP7'. This includes the obligation on beneficiaries to ensure free access to peer-reviewed articles resulting from projects via an institutional or subject-based repository.

Call title: ENVIRONMENT 2013-WATER

- Call identifier: FP7-ENV-2013-WATER
- **Date of publication**: 10 July 2012⁴¹
- **Deadline**: 4 April 2013⁴² at 17.00.00, Brussels local time
- **Indicative budget**⁴³: EUR 40 million

Table 1. Indicative budget breakdown by challenge/activity:

Challenge/activity		Indicative budget (EUR million)
6.1 Coping with climate change		n/a
6.2 Sustainable use and management of land and seas		n/a
6.3 Improving resource efficiency		40
6.4 Protecting citizens from environmental hazards		n/a
6.5 Mobilising environmental knowledge for policy, inc	dustry and society	n/a

The budget for this call is indicative. The final budget awarded to actions implemented through calls for proposals may vary:

- The final budget of the call may vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for each call; and
- Any repartition of the call budget may also vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for the call.
- Topics called for the FP7-ENV-2013-WATER-call:

⁴¹ The Director-General responsible for the call may publish it up to one month prior to or after the envisaged date of publication

⁴² The Director-General responsible may delay this deadline by up to two months.

⁴³ Under the condition that the draft budget for 2013 is adopted without modification by the budgetary authority.

Challenge		Topics called	Funding Schemes and eligibility criteria
Challenge 6.3 I resource efficiency	Improving	ENV.2013.WATER-1 Water efficiency and innovation demonstration projects One or more proposals can be selected.	SME-targetedCollaborativeProjectThe requested EU contributionper project shall not exceedEUR 6 000 000.Projects will only be selected forfunding on the condition that theestimate EU contribution goingto SMEs is 30 % or more of thetotal estimated EU contributionfor the project as a whole. Thiswill be assessed at the end of thenegotiation, before signature ofthe grant agreement. Proposalsnot fulfilling this criterion willnot be funded.
		ENV.2013.WATER-2 Ensuring the integration of water and innovation demonstration projects and support to trans-national networks of procurers Up to one proposal can be selected for each sub-topic.	Coordination and support action (coordinating action) The requested EU contribution per project shall not exceed EUR 1 000 000.

• Eligibility conditions:

- The general eligibility criteria are set out in Annex 2 of this work programme, and in the guide for applicants. Please note that the completeness criterion also includes that part B of the proposal shall be readable, accessible and printable.
- Table of standard minimum number of participating legal entities for all funding schemes used in the call, in line with the Rules for Participation and in the below format:

Funding scheme	Minimum conditions
Collaborative Project/SME-targeted	At least 3 independent legal entities, each of
Collaborative Project	which is established in a MS or AC, and no 2
	of which are established in the same MS or
	AC
Coordination and Support Actions	At least 3 independent legal entities, each of
(coordinating action)	which is established in a MS or AC, and no 2
	of which are established in the same MS or
	AC

- Only information provided in part A of the proposal will be used to determine whether the proposal is eligible with respect to budget thresholds and/or minimum number of eligible participants.

The following additional eligibility conditions apply in this call:

- It is important to note that the upper limits for requested EU contribution given per topic will be applied as an additional eligibility criterion and those proposals which do not respect these limits will be considered as ineligible.
- For topic ENV.2013.WATER-1, the following additional eligibility criterion will be applied: Projects will only be selected for funding on the condition that the estimate EU contribution going to SMEs is 30 % or more of the total estimated EU contribution for the project as a whole. This will be assessed at the end of the negotiation, before signature of the grant agreement. Proposals not fulfilling this criterion will not be funded.

• Evaluation procedure:

- The evaluation criteria and scoring scheme are set out in annex 2 of the work programme.
- Proposal page limits: Applicants must ensure that proposals conform to the page limits and layout given in the Guide for Applicants, and in the proposal part B template available through the EPSS.

The Commission will instruct the experts to disregard any pages exceeding these limits.

The minimum font size allowed is 11 points. The page size is A4, and all margins (top, bottom, left, right) should be at least 15 mm (not including any footers or headers).

- Experts will carry out the individual evaluation of proposals remotely.
- The procedure for prioritising proposals with equal scores is described in annex 2 of the Cooperation work programme.

- A ranked list will be drawn up for each indicative budget shown in the call fiche.

The evaluation shall follow a one stage evaluation procedure. Proposals are evaluated on the basis of the following three criteria: 1. S/T quality; 2. Implementation; 3. Impact. For each criterion marks from 0 to 5 will be given, with the possibility of 0.5 point scores. Successful proposals must pass the minimum thresholds as follows:

	Minimum threshold
S/T quality	3/5
Implementation	3/5
Impact	3/5
Overall threshold	10/15

• **Indicative timetable**: Evaluations are expected to be carried out during the months of April and May 2013. It is expected that the grant agreement negotiations for short-listed proposals will begin in June 2013.

- **Consortia agreements** In line with the Rules for Participation and the Model Grant Agreement, participants in Collaborative Projects are required to conclude a consortium agreement prior to grant agreement.
- The forms of grants and maximum reimbursement rates which will be offered are specified in Annex 3 to the Cooperation work programme.
- Flat rates to cover subsistence costs: In accordance with Annex 3 of this work programme, this call provides for the possibility to use flat rates to cover subsistence costs incurred by beneficiaries during travel carried out within grants for indirect actions. For further information, see the relevant Guides for Applicants for this call. The applicable flat rates are available on the Participant Portal at: https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/page/fp7_documents under 'Guidance documents for FP7/Financial issues/Flat rates for daily allowances'.
- **Dissemination:** Grant agreements of projects financed under this call for proposals will include the special clause 39 on the 'Open access pilot in FP7'. This includes the obligation on beneficiaries to ensure free access to peer-reviewed articles resulting from projects via an institutional or subject-based repository.



JOINT CALL 'THE OCEAN OF TOMORROW'

Call fiche for the joint call will be inserted here when finalised.

IV OTHER ACTIONS 44

The 'Environment' Theme will comply with the prevailing requirements for monitoring, and evaluation, both ex-ante and ex-post. New innovative ideas for implementation activities will be explored with a view to paving the way for Horizon 2020. These actions may involve studies and surveys as appropriate implemented through public procurement, and/or appointing groups of experts. The overall commitment appropriations for this Activity in 2012 will be up to EUR 650 000 of which maximum EUR 400 000 for public procurement.

Preparatory Action

• Feasibility study to explore ways and means to introduce, under HORIZON 2020, an annual or biannual EU prize for women innovators in the field of environmental research in areas such as sustainability, environmental policy making, eco-innovation, and green economy, through a transdisciplinary approach.

The advancement of green economy encompasses the development of new technologies, processes, services, methodologies and behaviours. Equal participation of men and women is essential for Europe to exploit the full potential of innovative strengths. Moreover, studies show that women are key actors in innovation in this field. The EU should increase the awareness of the link between women and environmental research and stimulate actions involving green technologies, gender, innovation and SMEs. The purpose of the prize is to raise awareness of the crucial role innovation plays in environmental research and to highlight valuable contributions from women researchers and entrepreneurs. With this prize, the Commission will inspire women to follow the example set by selected outstanding woman innovators. The definition of criteria for the prize will take into account the international dimension to support sustainable development. The study will advise the Commission on the feasibility, design and management aspects of the prize.

The indicative budget for this public procurement activity will be up to EUR 150 000. **Funding scheme:** CSA, public procurement

Monitoring and Evaluation

- ex-post evaluation of FP7 funded research in the field of environmental (including climate change) research. This study will be subject to contract following a public procurement procedure. If appropriate a Commission Framework Contract will be utilised. The indicative budget for this public procurement activity will be up to EUR 250 000. **Funding scheme:** CSA, public procurement, experts appointment
- Group(s) of external experts for policy relevant analyses and forward looking reflection on environment related research. Group(s) of external experts will be established to provide analyses of past activities in policy relevant areas, assess policy relevant state-ofthe-art scientific knowledge and to engage in a forward looking reflection on issues related to future environment related research and innovation.

⁴⁴ In accordance with Articles 14, 17 and 27 of Regulation (EC) No 1906/2006 of 18 December 2006 laying down the rules for the participation of undertakings, research centres and universities in actions under the Seventh Framework Programme and for the dissemination of research results (2007-2013).

The indicative budget for this activity is EUR 250 000. **Funding scheme**: CSA, experts appointment

Identified beneficiary

• An annual contribution to the 2013 activities of the Global Earth Observation (GEO) Secretariat ⁴⁵.

As a full member of GEO the Commission will pay on behalf of the Union a 2013 contribution of EUR 600 000 to the GEO Trust Fund which is the budgetary structure agreed by the GEO members to fund the GEO secretariat (hosted by the World Meteorological Organisation in Geneva, Switzerland).

Funding scheme: other action

Expected impact: To ensure the implementation of the GEOSS according to its annual work plan and the continuity of the leadership and participation of Europe in GEO.

Independent expertise

• The use of appointed experts for the evaluation of project proposals (EUR 2 000 000) and, where appropriate, for the reviewing of running projects (EUR 400 000). The set-up of groups of experts to advise on or support the design and implementation of Community research policy.

The indicative budget for independent expertise is EUR 2 400 000. **Funding scheme**: CSA, experts appointment

⁴⁵ Contribution paid by the Union as subscription to a body of which they are a member, according to Article 108(2)(d) of the Financial Regulation applicable to the general budget of the European Communities.

V **BUDGET**

Theme Environment (including climate change) — **Indicative budget**

Activities	2013⁴⁶ Budget EUR million ⁴⁷
Call FP7-ENV-2013- one-stage	16.00
Call FP7-ENV-2013- two-stage	248.00
Call FP7-ENV-2013-WATER	40.00
Call FP7-OCEAN-2013	15.00
Call ERANET-2013-RTD ⁴⁸	4.00
Call FP7-2013-NMP-ENV-ENERGY-ICT-EeB ⁴⁹	6.00
General activities (cf Annex 4) (details below)	2.86
Other actions: • Evaluations (EUR 2.00 million) • Monitoring and reviews (EUR 0.4 million) • Actions implemented through public	3.65
procurements, expert groups and grants to identified beneficiaries (EUR 1.25 million) Estimated total budget	335.51

⁴⁶ Under the condition that the draft budget for 2013 is adopted without modifications by the budget authority. ⁴⁷ The Budget figures given in this table are rounded to two decimals points.

⁴⁸ For further details of the implementation of this call, please see Annex 4 of the Cooperation work programme.

⁴⁹ For further details of the implementation of this call, please see Annex 5 of the Cooperation work programme.

General activities - indicative budget

Activities	2013 ⁵⁰ Budget EUR million
CORDIS	447 694
Expertise for the evaluation and review of horizontal activities	5 667
EUREKA and Research Organisations	22 668
COST	2 382 322
Total	2 858 351

All budgetary figures given in this work programme are indicative. The final budgets may vary following the evaluation of proposals.

The final budget awarded to actions implemented through calls for proposals may vary:

- The total budget of the call may vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for each call; and
- Any repartition of the call budget may also vary by up to 10 % of the total value of the indicated budget for the call.

For actions not implemented through calls for proposals:

- The final budgets for evaluation, monitoring and review may vary by up to 20 % of the indicated budgets for these actions;
- The final budget awarded for all other actions not implemented through calls for proposals may vary by up to 10 % of the indicated budget for these actions.

⁵⁰ Under the condition that the draft budget for 2013 is adopted without modifications by the budget authority.